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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of your Board of Directors I am delighted to present to you the 2018 Annual report.

The past year has been one of continuation of the execution of our core strategic objectives and it is pleasing to 
see the results have reflected this.

Our restructuring focus has continued, with the objective of seeking opportunities to maximise shareholder value, 
whilst aligning our key strengths for future growth. We were delighted to announce, post year end, the successful 
sale and lease back of our primary manufacturing facility at Cherry Lane, and this, combined with the sale of our 
Pharmaceutical (Gold Cross, David Craig and Skin Basics) and Impromy brands, has achieved much of this goal.

During the year we completed the purchase of the South Pack Laboratories business, and the smooth integration 
into Probiotec has been a credit to all concerned. This proved to be a highly successful acquisition, being 
immediately earnings per share accretive, and has significant opportunities ahead of it.

Our continued achievements and our confidence in the path ahead, resulted in the Board approving the payment 
of a 2 cents per ordinary share fully franked dividend, and this will be paid on 4 October 2018.

Branded Pharmaceuticals
The branded pharmaceuticals segment performed solidly for the year with revenue growing 8%.

As recently announced, Probiotec has reached agreement for the sale of its pharmaceutical brands (being Gold Cross, David Craig 
and Skin Basics) with completion scheduled to occur around the time this report is published. Pleasingly, Probiotec will continue to 
act as the exclusive manufacturer of these products under a long-term agreement.

Obesity and Health Management
Sales from the obesity and health management segment grew strongly to $15.3 million for the year, an increase of 21% over the 
prior year, with both the Impromy and Celebrity Slim brands experiencing growth. 

As announced in late August, agreement has been reached for the sale of the Impromy brand to Blackmores and this is scheduled 
to complete at the end of November 2018. As with the branded pharmaceuticals, Probiotec will continue to act as the exclusive 
manufacturer of the products.  We are looking forward to continuing to grow our relationship with Blackmores and believe that the 
IMPROMY brand is well positioned for future growth under their ownership.

The Celebrity Slim brand continues to perform solidly with a strong presence in grocery and pharmacy delivering off the back of 
some new product launches and a well-executed marketing and promotional plan. With further new distribution points within the 
FMCG channel expected to come on-line in the first quarter of FY2019, the brand is well positioned for future growth.

Chairman’s Letter to Shareholders
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Contract Manufacturing 
The Group’s contract manufacturing segment continues to be a real strength for the business.  

Sales grew by 29% over the prior year with organic growth of 13% being supplemented by the acquisition of South Pack 
Laboratories in October 2017. This strong revenue growth was driven by the introduction of several new customers, together with 
growth from a number of long-term customers.

Pleasingly, significant further growth in both revenue and earnings is expected to be driven by:

•	The full year impact of the new contracts that came on-line during FY2018; 

•	The full year impact of the acquisition of South Pack Laboratories; and

•	New contracts with both existing and new customers, which will be coming on-line progressively over FY019 and fully realised 
in FY2020.

Conclusion
At the completion of this, my second year as Chairman of Probiotec Limited, I remain more enthusiastic than ever at the 
opportunities we see ahead and together with the Board and Executive team we have at Probiotec, believe we can continue to 
achieve positive outcomes for you, our shareholders.

In conclusion, it would be remiss of me to allow this moment to pass without acknowledging the efforts, commitment, and 
contribution of our CEO Mr Wes Stringer, his executive team, and indeed all the staff at Probiotec, who’s tireless efforts have 
achieved what we present to you today.

Geoffrey Pearce
Chairman
Probiotec Limited
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FY18 Highlights

25% 42%69% 38%
growth in 

Sales Revenue 
to

$74.7 
million

growth in 
Underlying NPAT1 

to

$4.7 
million

growth in 
underlying EBITDA1 

to

$10.0 
million

increase in dividends  
to 2.75 cents per share 

fully franked 

(was 2 cents 
in FY17)

1 Excludes non-recurring  transaction costs related predominantly to the acquisition of South Pack Laboratories of $0.6 million ($0.4 million after tax)
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Acquisition of South Pack Laboratories

South Pack 
Laboratories is an 
Australian owned, 
TGA registered 
pharmaceutical 
packaging company, 
established on 1990.
South Pack provides high 
quality, efficient packing 
services for many of 
Australia’s leading brands.

Expertise in the 
pharmaceutical packing 
industry and commitment 
to the Code of Good 
Manufacturing Practice 
along with our core values 
(Integrity, Cooperation, 
Responsibility and 
Commitment) make South 
Park a reliable and proven 
packing partner.

Since being acquired in 
October 2017, South 
Pack Laboratories 
has been seamlessly 
integrated into the 
Probiotec Group. South 
Pack’s site in Kirrawee, 
New South Wales has 
also recently undergone 
a major expansion that 
will provide significant 
additional capacity 
along with operational 
efficiencies.

South Pack’s  
newly commissioned 

facilities and equipment
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Australian
Probiotec is proudly Australian owned and 
operated, providing hundreds of Australian 
jobs and supporting the Australian economy.

Australia has the highest standards of 
pharmaceutical and human nutrition 
manufacturing in the World. The Therapeutic 
Goods Administration (TGA) oversees 
compliance with pharmaceutical standards 
and manufacturing; with the Dairy Food 
Safety Victoria & Australian Quarantine 
Inspection Service (AQIS) overseeing 
compliance with food standards and 
manufacturing. 

This, coupled with a clean, green 
environment, ensures that Australia maintains 
its place as a destination for the manufacture 
of high quality products and services.

Mission
Our mission is to be a 
leading manufacturer 
and provider of 
innovative healthcare 
products to improve 
the lives and wellbeing 
of our customers and 
meet the needs of our 
stakeholders.

About Us
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Probiotec is a one stop shop  
for contract manufacturing

Since its inception in 1997, Probiotec has grown to become a leading 
manufacturer of a diverse range of high quality prescription and  

over-the-counter (OTC) pharmaceuticals, complimentary medicines,  
human nutrition products and specialty ingredients.

What separates Probiotec from other trusted contract manufacturers 
is our ongoing investment in research and development; equipping our 

manufacturing facilities with the latest technologies; employing  
highly skilled Chemists and Microbiologists, and maintaining the  

strictest quality standards.

As a result of this, Probiotec has a thorough understanding of the  
processes and dynamics required to develop formulations for our customers 

that will deliver their required margins and return on investment.

Our proven experience and expertise extends across a wide range of 
healthcare formulations and products in many formats, offering customers 

access to a cost efficient contract manufacturer.

Dynamic, fast response  
manufacturing
Probiotec’s manufacturing facilities are focussed 
on quality and efficiency, with the capability to 
quickly respond to changing market conditions. 
Compliance with strict quality standards has 
resulted in Probiotec earning and maintaining a 
reputation as one of Australia’s leading healthcare 
manufacturers.

Our Laverton North (VIC) facility is the centre 
of Probiotec’s advanced pharmaceutical 
manufacturing operations. This world class 
purpose-built facility, situated just 15 minutes 
from Melbourne’s CBD, employs highly skilled and 
experienced personnel.

As a quality focussed, highly efficient manufacturer, 
Probiotec is capable of meeting the needs of 
customers in the Pharmaceutical and Human 
Nutrition Industries.
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Our Services
Our recognised production capabilities and 
expertise deliver the highest standards of quality  
and cost efficiency in:
•	 Liquids, suspensions, creams, gels and ointments
•	 Solid dose tablets, caplets, chewable tablets,  

film coated tablets
•	 Hard shell two-piece capsules
•	 Powder blends and blending
•	 Wet granulation / fluid bed drying / milling
•	 Dairy formulations
•	 Effervescents and humidity controlled  

processing
•	 Blister packing
•	 Liquid filling (bottle)

•	 Tub / jar filling
•	 Induction sealing
•	 Tube filling
•	 Nasal and other sprays
•	 Sachets
•	 Stick Sachets
•	 All forms of secondary cartoning and packing

In addition to this we offer:
•	 Analytical and stability testing within our fully 

equipped laboratory.
•	 New product formulations and production  

trials, plus ongoing research and development.

EFFERVESCENTS

STICK SACHETS

TABLET COATING BLISTER PACKING LIQUIDS & SUSPENSIONS

SPRAYS

TABLETS, 

CAPSULES & CAPLETS

SACHETS TUB / JAR FILLING

POWDERS & POWDER BLENDINGHIGH VOLUME SOLID DOSE

LOTIONS, GELS, 

CREAMS & OINTMENTS
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Product Development
Probiotec offers an extensive product development service. Our team of experts are available to assist with 
the development and management of new products, ranging from new product concept and development, 
through to release for supply.

Utilising our onsite Laboratory & New Product Development Centre, our team is capable of delivering initial 
laboratory scale samples through to commercial pilot scale trials.

Environmental activities
Probiotec is committed to supporting the 
environment and the community in which it operates.

The Australian Packaging Covenant (formerly known 
as the National Packaging Covenant) was formed to 
minimise environmental impact from the disposal of 
used packaging.

This is achieved via improvements in packaging 
design, production processes and facilitating the 
re-use and recycling of used packaging materials.

As part of an ongoing commitment to protecting the 
environment, Probiotec continues to be a signatory of 
the Australian Packaging Covenant.

Sustainable Packaging Guidelines are being adopted 
for our existing and new products, to minimise the 
environmental impact of packaging materials, where 
possible.

The company utilises recycling collection points 
within our facilities, to reduce the impact on landfill. 
Cardboard, white paper and commingle are being 
recycled.

Our services include:
•	 Formulation development
•	 Raw material sourcing and advice
•	 Packaging sourcing and advice
•	 Analytical method development
•	 Production trials
•	 Process validation
•	 Product regulatory advice and/or management
•	 Stability testing
•	 Release for supply
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Investing for the Future

In July 2018, Probiotec acquired  
85 Cherry Lane in Laverton North, 
Victoria. This property is adjacent to 
our primary manufacturing facility. This 
acquisition will enable Probiotec to: 

1.	 meet the needs of our growing 
customer base

2.	 achieve operational efficiencies

3.	 build capacity for future growth

In addition to the current building on  
85 Cherry Lane, Probiotec is 
well advanced in planning for 
the construction of an additional 
warehousing and production building on 
the property. This additional construction 
of over 2,000m2 will bring the total 
building area of our consolidated site to 
over 17,000m2.

Over the past year, we have also 
added significant new capacity with 
a newly commissioned dehumidified 
manufacturing suite together with the 
installation of additional equipment 
including encapsulators, tablet 
compression machines and blister 
packing lines.
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Probiotec Limited (Probiotec) is committed to best practice in 
corporate governance, compliance and ethical behaviour.  The 
Board’s approach has been to be guided by the principles and 
practices that are in its stakeholders’ best interests while ensuring 
full compliance with legal requirements.
A summary of Probiotec’s corporate governance practices and 
compliance with the Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations (Third Edition) is set out below.  Probiotec is in 
compliance with all principles and recommendations.
The policies and charters referred to in this summary are 
accessible at Probiotec’s website.
These corporate governance statements are effective as at  
23 August 2018.

1 Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

1.1 Responsibilities and Evaluation of the Board and 
Management
The Board has adopted a Board Charter which sets out the 
roles and responsibilities of the Board as well as the roles and 
responsibilities that have been delegated to the Chief Executive 
Officer and other senior management.
The Board’s responsibilities include:
•	 protecting and enhancing the value of the assets of the 

Company;
•	 setting strategies, directions and monitoring and reviewing 

against these strategic objectives;
•	 reviewing and ratifying internal controls, codes of conduct 

and legal compliance;
•	 reviewing the Company’s accounts;
•	 approval and review of the operating budget and strategic 

plan for the Company;
•	 evaluating performance and determining the remuneration of 

the Chief Executive Officer and Senior Management;
•	 ensuring the significant risks facing the Company have been 

identified and adequate control monitoring and reporting 
mechanisms are in place;

•	 approval of transactions relating to acquisitions, divestments 
and capital expenditure above delegated authority limits;

•	 approval of financial and dividend policy; and
•	 appointment of the Chief Executive Officer.
The Board reviews the performance, composition and terms 
of reference of the Boards and the Board’s committees using 
the Process for Evaluation of Performance Policy on an annual 
basis.  The Board has evaluated the Board, the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee and Audit and Risk Management 
Committee during the reporting period. 
The Board has delegated responsibility for the day-to-day 
leadership and management of Probiotec to the Chief Executive 
Officer.  The Board evaluates the performance of the Chief 
Executive Officer with facilitation by the Chair on an annual basis 

using its Process for Evaluation of Performance Policy.  The Board 
evaluated the performance of the Chief Executive Officer during 
the reporting period.
Senior management has been given certain responsibilities, which 
include:
•	 developing strategies to deliver a strong market presence and 

build shareholder wealth over the long term; 
•	 recommending appropriate strategic and operating plans; 
•	 maintaining effective control of operations; 
•	 measuring performance against peers; 
•	 being strong, principled and providing ethical leadership; 
•	 assuring sound succession planning and management 

development; and
•	 providing a sound organisational structure.
The Board evaluates the performance of senior management 
using its Process for Evaluation of Performance Policy, with the 
assistance of the Chief Executive Officer, on an annual basis.  The 
Board evaluated the performance of senior management during 
the reporting period. 

1.2 Appointment and evaluation of directors
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is responsible for 
developing criteria for Board membership and identifying suitably 
skilled, qualified and experienced individuals to recommend to 
the Board.  Probiotec undertakes appropriate checks before 
appointing or putting forward any director for election by 
shareholders and provides shareholders with all information 
relevant to their decision whether to elect the director.  
Each director and senior executive of Probiotec has in place a 
letter of appointment or employment agreement which sets out 
the terms and conditions of their appointment.
The Board has adopted a Process for Evaluation of Performance 
Policy. Under the Policy, the Chair, in consultation with the Board, 
determines the process by which the performance of individual 
directors is assessed. This may include mechanisms such as 
interviews, self-assessment and peer review. 

1.3 Company Secretary
As set out in the Board Charter, the Company Secretary is 
accountable directly to the Board, through the Chair, on all matters 
to do with the proper functioning of the Board.

1.4 Diversity Policy
The Board has adopted a Diversity Policy to promote an inclusive 
culture where all people are encouraged to succeed to the best 
of their ability.  The Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
is responsible for developing and monitoring a long term plan to 
address diversity initiatives and measures.

Corporate Governance
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As at 30 June 2018, the Probiotec Group had the following female 
participation (%) rates:
Probiotec Limited non-executive directors 	 0 
Senior executive positions	 27
Other management and professional roles 	 42
Total workforce 	 48
For the purposes of the reporting above, senior executive 
positions are defined as those positions whereby the executive 
has both multiple direct reports and control over significant 
decisions within their department.
The Board has set the overall objective of a 50% participation 
rate across all levels of the Group. However, this objective is 
governed by the overriding principle of merit based selection and 
advancement.  

2 Structure the board to add value

2.1 Composition of the Board
There are currently four members on the Board, of which the 
majority are independent, non-executive directors.  The Chair of 
the Board is Geoff Pearce, an independent and non-executive 
director.  The Chief Executive Officer is Wesley Stringer.  Probiotec 
supports the separation of the roles of Chair of the Board and 
Chief Executive Officer. 
Profiles of each board member, including terms in office, are 
included in the 2018 Financial Report.
The Board has established a Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee and an Audit and Risk Management Committee.  The 
responsibilities of these Committees are set out in more detail 
below.  The number of Committee meetings held during the 
reporting period and attendance at those meetings, are included in 
the 2018 Financial Report.

2.2 Skills and competency of the Board
The Board has not adopted a Board Skills Matrix.  The Board 
considers that it is aware of the mix of skills held by the Board 
and is conscious of which skills may be beneficial to add to the 
Board.  The Remuneration and Nomination Committee assists 
the Board in this respect.  The duties and responsibilities of 
the Remuneration and Nomination Committee, as set out in its 
Charter, include reviewing the size, structure and composition 
of the Board and the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, 
and identifying suitable candidates to fill Board vacancies.  The 
Committee make recommendations to the Board accordingly.
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is also responsible 
for establishing and overseeing induction and continuing 
professional development programs for directors to develop and 
maintain the skills and knowledge needed to perform the role 
effectively.

2.3 Independence of directors
In determining the independence of directors, the Board applies 
the definition of independent directors as contained in the 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (Third 
Edition).  An independent director is a director who is independent 
of management and free of any interest, position, association 
or relationship that might materially interfere with, or could 
reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, the exercise of 
their independent judgement.
The Board considers that each of its Non-executive directors, 
Sandy Beard, Geoff Pearce and Greg Lan is independent.  

2.4 Remuneration and Nomination Committee
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is made up of 
Geoff Pearce, Greg Lan and Wesley Stringer with Geoff Pearce 
holding the role of Chairman. The Board considers a majority of 
the committee members, including the Chair, to be independent 
directors.  Profiles of each committee member, including their 
qualifications, are included in the 2018 Financial Report.
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee Charter sets 
out the responsibilities of the Committee as well as membership 
requirements and procedures for Committee meetings.  The 
Committee is responsible for developing criteria for Board 
membership, to identify suitably skilled, qualified and experienced 
individuals for nomination and to establish processes for the 
review of the performance of directors.  The Charter is reviewed 
annually.

3 Act ethically and responsibly
The Board has adopted a Code of Conduct which applies to all 
Probiotec employees.  The Code of Conduct emphasises the 
fundamental principles of Probiotec, including ethical behaviour, 
honesty, integrity and respect. 
Probiotec also has in place:
•	 a Whistleblowing Policy, to support employees reporting the 

conduct of other employees; and
•	 a Security Trading Policy, to ensure its Key Management 

Personnel (as that term is defined in the ASX Listing Rules) 
comply with the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act 
2001 (Cth).

4 Safeguard integrity in corporate reporting

4.1 Audit and Risk Management Committee
The Audit and Risk Management Committee is made up of 
Alexander (Sandy) Beard (Chair), and Geoff Pearce.  Each of the 
committee members are non-executive directors and the Board 
considers each of the committee members to be independent 
directors.  Profiles of each committee member, including their 
qualifications, are included in the 2018 Financial Report.  The 
Audit and Risk Management Committee currently only has two 
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members given that the board is currently made up on only 
three non-executive directors. If and when the size of the board 
increases a further appointment may be made.
The Audit and Risk Management Committee Charter sets out 
the responsibilities of the Committee as well as membership 
requirements and procedure for Committee meetings.  The 
Committee’s responsibilities include reviewing the financial 
statements released to shareholders, recommending the 
appointment and remuneration of the external auditor and the 
terms of their engagement and assessing the independence of the 
external auditor.  The Charter is reviewed annually.

4.2 Assurance from Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer
Prior to the approval of the financial statements for any financial 
period, the Board Charter and the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) 
requires that the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer declare that:
•	 the financial records of Probiotec have been properly 

maintained;
•	 the financial statement comply with the appropriate 

accounting standards and give a true and fair view of 
Probiotec’s financial position and performance; and

•	 that opinion has been formed on the basis of a sound system 
of risk management and internal control which is operating 
effectively.

4.3 Auditors attendance at general meetings
Under Probiotec’s Constitution, Probiotec’s auditor is entitled to 
attend any general meeting and has the right to be heard. 

5 Make timely and balanced disclosure
The Board of Probiotec has adopted a Continuous Disclosure 
Policy to ensure compliance with Probiotec’s obligations under 
the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and the ASX Listing Rules.  A 
Compliance Officer has been appointed by the Board to be 
primarily responsible for deciding what information will be 
disclosed to the market.  The Continuous Disclosure Policy sets 
out processes for reporting and disclosure and speaking with the 
media, public and analysts.

6 Respect the rights of security holders
The Board of Probiotec has adopted a Shareholder 
Communication Policy which outlines its commitment to ensuring 
that shareholders, regulators and the wider investment community 
are informed of all major developments affecting Probiotec in a 
timely and effective manner.
As part of this commitment, Probiotec has available on its website 
its Constitution, board and committee charters, and the policies 
referred to in this summary.  Information in relation to Probiotec’s 
directors, copies of all media and ASX releases and the details of 
Probiotec’s share registry are also accessible on the website.
Shareholders are encouraged to attend and participate at general 

meetings. To facilitate this, meetings will be held during normal 
business hours and at a place convenient for shareholders to 
attend.
The full text of notices and accompanying materials will appear on 
Probiotec’s website. 

7 Recognise and manage risk
The Board is responsible for ensuring that the significant risks 
facing Probiotec have been identified and adequate control 
monitoring and reporting mechanisms are in place.
The Audit and Risk Management Committee (whose members 
have been summarised above) assist the Board in executing its 
responsibilities in relation to risk.  The majority of the Committee’s 
members, including the Chair, are considered by the Board to be 
independent Directors.  The Audit and Risk Committee Charter 
requires the Committee to oversee Probiotec’s risk profile, risk 
policy and the effectiveness of its risk management framework 
and supporting risk management systems.  
The Board has adopted a Risk Management Policy which identifies 
key risk areas, sets out policy objectives and outcomes and 
delineates responsibility and reporting measures across Probiotec.  
This policy is reviewed annually and was reviewed during the 
current reporting period.
Probiotec does not currently have material exposure to economic, 
environmental or social sustainability risks.  If such risks do arise, 
Probiotec will manage those risks in accordance with its internal 
risk management framework.  

8 Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee (whose members 
have been summarised above) is responsible for reviewing and 
making recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages 
and policies available to senior management and directors, as 
set out in its Charter.  The Committee may engage independent 
counsel or advisors with the approval of the Chairman or by 
resolution of the Board.
The Board has adopted a Security Trading Policy which prohibits 
Key Management Personnel (as that term is defined in the ASX 
Listing Rules) from entering into hedging arrangements in relation 
to Probiotec securities which would have the effect of limiting 
the exposure of the person to risk relating to an element of their 
remuneration that has not vested, or has vested but remains 
subject to a holding lock.  Key Management Personnel may enter 
into margin loans or other security arrangements in relation 
to Probiotec shares only with the prior written approval of the 
Designated Officer.  Details of the framework and policies in 
relation to remuneration is set out in the Remuneration Report 
section of the Directors Report, which is included in the 2018 
Financial Report.  The remuneration of each director is also set 
out in the Remuneration Report.  Information on the structure 
of the remuneration of senior management is also set out in the 
Remuneration Report. 

Corporate Governance (continued)
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Directors’ Report

The directors submit the financial report of Probiotec Limited (“the 
Company”) and its controlled entities (“the Group”) for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2018.

Directors
The names of the directors in office at any time during or since the 
end of the year are: 
Geoffrey Ronald Pearce	 Chairman			 
Wesley Stringer	 Managing Director
Greg Lan	 Non-Executive Director		
Alexander Beard 	 Non-Executive Director	 (Appointed 23 November 2017)
Graham Morton	 Non-Executive Director	 (Resigned 13 October 2017)
Directors have been in office to the date of this report unless 
otherwise stated.

Company Secretary
The name of the company secretary in office at any time during or 
since the end of the year was:
Jared Stringer
The company secretary has been in office to the date of this 
report unless otherwise stated.

Principal Activities
The Group’s principal activities in the course of the financial year 
were the development, manufacture and sale of pharmaceuticals, 
consumer health and nutraceutical products in Australian and 
international markets.

Operating Results
The consolidated profit of the Group attributable to the 
shareholders from continuing operations for the financial year was 
$4,276,719 (2017: $2,784,214).

Dividends
A final dividend of 2.0 cents per fully paid ordinary share has 
been declared for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 (2017: 
1.5 cents). During the financial year ended 30 June 2018, a final 
dividend of 1.5 cents per fully paid ordinary share was paid in 
relation to the 2017 financial year, which amounted to $793,940 
(2017: $793,940). An interim dividend of 0.75 cents per fully paid 
ordinary share, which amounted to $456,221 (2017: $264,647) 
was also paid during the 2018 financial year.

Operating and financial review

Overview of results
For the year ended 30 June 2018, the Group’s net profit after tax 
from continuing activities attributable to members for the financial 
year was $4,276,719 an increase of 54% on the prior year (2017: 
$2,784,214). Excluding non-recurring transaction costs, The 
Group’s net profit after tax from continuing activities grew by 69% 
to $4,695,021.

The Group generated sales revenue from continuing operations 
of $75,724,762 a increase of 25% on the previous financial year. 
Organic growth of 12% was supplemented by the acquisition of 
South Pack in October 2017.
Cash flow from operations grew by 52% to $6.22 million during 
the year compared to the prior corresponding period. 
The result for the year is another significant step in the continued 
evolution and growth of Probiotec with strong growth in both 
revenue in earnings. We are also continuing to field significant 
customer enquiries and sales leads.

Contract Manufacturing 
The contract manufacturing segment generated $52.4 million in 
sales, an increase of 29% from the prior corresponding period. 
Organic growth of 13% was supplemented by the acquisition of 
South Pack Laboratories in October 2017.
Strong revenue growth was driven by the introduction of several 
new customers, together with organic growth for a number of 
long-term customers.
Pleasingly, significant further growth in both revenue and earnings 
is expected from this segment driven by:

1.	 The full year impact of the new contracts that came on-line 
during FY2018; 

2.	 The full year impact of the acquisition of South Pack 
Laboratories; and

3.	 New contracts with both existing and new customers, 
which will be coming on-line progressively over FY019 and 
fully realised in FY2020.

Branded Pharmaceuticals
The branded pharmaceuticals segment generated $8.0 million 
in sales, an increase of 8% compared to the prior corresponding 
period.  This sales growth drove a strong increase in segmental 
profit over the prior year.
The board is confident that its branded pharmaceutical products 
will perform strong with several recently released new products 
supplementing the ongoing strength and trust in the brands.

Obesity and health
Sales from the obesity and health management segment grew 
strongly to $15.3 million for the year, an increase of 21% over the 
prior corresponding period, with both the Impromy and Celebrity 
Slim brands experiencing growth. This segment also increased 
earnings by 68%. 
The Impromy brand continues to experience growth in distribution 
levels and the directors expect to see strong growth in both sales 
and earnings from this brand over the coming years as both new 
products and new distribution come on line. 
The Celebrity Slim brand continues to perform strongly, with 
further new distribution points within the FMCG channel 
expected to come on-line in the first quarter of FY2019.

F I N A N C I A L S
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Significant Changes in State of Affairs
There was no significant change in the state of affairs of the Group 
other than that referred to in the financial statements or notes 
thereto and elsewhere in the financial report of the company and 
its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2018. 

Significant After Reporting Date Events
On 2 July 2018, the Group acquired the land and buildings 
situated at 85 Cherry Lane, Laverton North in Victoria for $3.6 
million. 85 Cherry Lane is adjacent to Probiotec’s pharmaceutical 
production facility in Laverton North, Victoria.
There has not been any matter or circumstance, other than that 
referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto, that has 
arisen since the end of the financial year, that has significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, 
the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group 
in future financial years.

Likely developments, business strategies and 
prospects
The Group will continue to operate its business consistent with its 
stated business strategy of growing both its pharmaceutical and 
consumer health business segments.  The Board will continue to 
monitor the progress of the business improvement initiatives and 
the intended improvement in the Group’s operating and financial 
performance.  

Environmental Issues
The Group monitors its environmental legal obligations and has 
its own self imposed policies. We believe that the Group complies 
with all aspects of the environmental laws. 

Occupational Health and Safety
The Group’s Occupational Health and Safety Committee meet 
monthly and monitors the business by conducting regular audits of 
the premises. Any safety matters raised either by staff, the audits 
or from an investigation of any workers’ compensation claims are 
reviewed and, where appropriate, changes made to operating 
procedures. Staff are encouraged to make safety suggestions to 
their departmental representatives. All committee members are 
given the necessary training for the position.

Meetings of Directors
Probiotec Limited became a public company on 17th February 2006 and listed on the Australian Stock Exchange on the 14th November 
2006. Directors hold meetings approximately six to eight times a year. The board also comprises the Audit and Risk Management and 
Remuneration and Nominations Sub-Committees. The number of meetings of the company’s board of directors held during the year ended 
30 June 2018, and the numbers of meetings attended by each director were:

	 Board of Directors          	 Audit & Risk Management	 Remuneration  & 	  
	 Meetings 	 Committee meetings	 Nominations Committee meetings
Director	 No. Held1	 No. Attended	 No. Held2	 No. Attended	 No. Held2	 No. Attended
Alexander Beard	 5	 5	 1	 1	 -	 -
Wesley Stringer	 7	 7	 -	 -	 -	 -
Geoffrey Pearce	 7	 7	 2	 2	 -	 -
Greg Lan	 7	 7	 -	 -	 -	 -
Graham Morton	 1	 1	 1	 1	 -	 -

1 Number of board meetings held while director eligible to attend.
2 Number of meetings for members of respective board or committee only.
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Information on Directors and Officers
Geoffrey Pearce
Role	 -	Non-Executive Chairman
Qualifications	 -	n/a
Experience	 -	Mr Pearce is a Melbourne-based entrepreneur with over three decades of business experience.  

	 Mr Pearce has extensive experience in  pharmaceutical and cosmetic manufacturing as well as raw  
	 material and packaging sourcing and supply. In 2002, Mr Pearce started a contract manufacturing  
	 business in the bath and beauty industry with the acquisition of a small factory. In 2010, he renamed  
	 that business as Beautiworx. In 2014, Mr Pearce sold Beautiworx into a company where he was one of  
	 the two major shareholders, CEO of the manufacturing arm and a director on the Board. This company,  
	 BWX Limited, was successfully listed on the ASX in 2015 with a current market capitalisation of over  
	 $400 million.

Special Responsibilities	 -	Member of Remuneration and Nominations Committee and Audit and Risk Committee.
Other Directorships	 -	Non-executive director of Cann Group Limited (ASX: CAN) – Interest in shares and options: 1,554,195  

	 fully paid ordinary shares.
	 -	Non-executive director of McPhersons Limited (ASX: MCP) – Interest in shares and options: 570,239  

	 fully paid ordinary shares.

Greg Lan
Role	 -	Non-Executive Director
Qualifications	 -	BSc (hons) Business Administration, MBA (International Marketing and Finance)
Experience	 -	Mr Lan was the founding Managing Director of Sydney-based pharmaceutical company Aspen  

	 Pharmacare Australia, a subsidiary of South African listed Aspen Pharmacare Holdings. During Mr Lan’s  
	 tenure, Aspen Australia experienced exponential growth, particularly after the acquisition of Sigma’s  
	 branded and generics portfolio in 2011 (as well as its manufacturing facilities), and is today one of  
	 Australia’s largest pharmaceutical companies, with a diverse portfolio of over 260 products covering  
	 prescription and OTC. When Mr Lan retired after 15 years with the company, Aspen’s Asia Pacific  
	 operations (including Australia) had annualised sales in excess of $1 billion. 
	 Prior to joining Aspen, Mr Lan has had extensive experience working in the pharmaceutical industry  
	 internationally, including senior roles with Ciba-Geigy (now Novartis) in Switzerland and Saudi Arabia, as  
	 well as with Sanofi-Aventis in Australia. Mr Lan holds an MBA from the University of Michigan.

Special Responsibilities	 -	Nil.
Other Directorships	 -	Nil.

Alexander (Sandy) Beard
Role	 -	Non-Executive Director
Qualifications	 -	B.Comm UNSW, Fellow of Institute of Chartered Accountants, Associate of the Institute of  

	 Company Directors
Experience	 -	Alexander (Sandy) Beard is the Chief Executive Officer of CVC Limited, an ASX Listed investment  

	 company with a market capitalisation of approximately $250 million. CVC has a wide range of  
	 investments including direct private equity, listed investments, property investments and funds  
	 management. Mr Beard has been a director of numerous public companies over the past 15 years and is  
	 currently a director of the ASX listed Eildon Capital Limited. He brings extensive experience with investee  
	 businesses, both in providing advice and in direct management roles. Mr Beard has played an important  
	 roles in delivering value to shareholders over the past 20 years across a broad spectrum of industries and  
	 stages of company growth.

Special Responsibilities	 -	Chairman of Audit and Risk Management Committee.
Other Directorships	 -	Non-executive director of Eildon Capital Limited (ASX: EDC) – Interest in shares and options: 664,285  

	 fully paid ordinary shares.
	 -	Executive director of CVC Limited (ASX: CVC) – Interest in shares and options: 1,381,136 fully paid  

	 ordinary shares.

F I N A N C I A L S
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Information on Directors and Officers

Jared Stringer
Role	 -	Company Secretary
Qualifications	 -	B.Comm (Accounting, Finance), BIT, GradDip.AppCorGov, CPA
Experience	 -	Began employment with Probiotec in 2002 and accepted role of Financial Accountant in May 2005  

	 before being appointed as Chief Financial Officer in 2011. Mr Stringer is a member of the society of  
	 Certified Practicing Accountants of Australia and also holds a Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate  
	 Governance.

Special Responsibilities	 -	None.
Other Directorships	 -	Nil.

Wesley Stringer
Role	 -	Chief Executive Officer / Managing Director
Qualifications	 -	B.Comm (Accounting, Finance), LLB (hons), CPA
Experience	 -	Prior to joining Probiotec, Wesley was employed by KPMG in Taxation and Finance. He has also worked  

	 internationally for Deutsche Bank and BNP Paribas Investment Bank in London. From 1 July 2015,  
	 Wesley has taken the role of Chief Executive Officer of Probiotec Limited

Special Responsibilities	 -	None.
Other Directorships	 -	Nil.

Insurance of Officers 
During the financial year, the Company paid insurance premiums for a directors’ & Officers’ liability insurance contract that provides cover 
for the current and former directors, alternate directors, secretaries, executive officers and officers of the Company and its subsidiaries.  The 
directors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered in this contract or the amount of the premium paid, as disclosure is 
prohibited under the terms of the contract.

Disclosure on Unissued Shares under Option
At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of Probiotec Limited under option are as follows:

Grant Date	 Date of Expiry	 Exercise Price	 Number under Option
06.10.2015	 05.10.2018	 $0.50	 1,000,000
01.07.2017	 30.06.2020	 $0.65	 1,350,000
23.11.2017	 22.11.2020	 $0.77	 1,000,000
19.12.2017	 18.12.2019	 $1.20	 3,200,000
23.01.2018	 22.01.2020	 $1.20	 3,600,000
			   10,150,000

Option holders do not have any rights to participate in any issues of shares or other interests of the company or any other entity.
For details of options issued to directors and executives as remuneration, refer to the remuneration report.
During the year ended 30 June 2018, 1,700,000 ordinary shares of Probiotec Limited were issued on the exercise of options granted. No 
further shares have been issued since year-end. No amounts are unpaid on any of the shares.
No person entitled to exercise the option had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue of any other body 
corporate.
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This report is prepared in accordance with section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001 for the Group for the financial year ended 
30 June 2018. This report is audited.

1. REMUNERATION

1.1 Remuneration & Nominations Committee
The primary function of the Board Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee (“Committee”) is to assist the Board of Directors 
(“Board”) in fulfilling its oversight responsibility to shareholders by 
ensuring that:
•	 the Board comprises individuals best able to discharge the 

responsibilities of directors having regard to the law and the 
highest standards of governance; and

•	 the Group has coherent remuneration policies and practices 
that fairly and responsibly reward executives having regard 
to performance, the law and the highest standards of 
governance.

The Committee’s purpose in relation to remuneration is to:
•	 review and approve executive remuneration policy;
•	 make recommendations to the Board in relation to the 

remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and Non-
executive Directors;

•	 review and make recommendations to the Board on 
corporate goals and objectives relevant to the remuneration 
of the Chief Executive Officer, and the performance of the 
Chief Executive Officer in light of these objectives;

•	 approve remuneration packages for Probiotec’s executives;
•	 review and approve all equity based plans;
•	 approve all merit recognition expenditure; and
•	 oversee general remuneration practices.
The Committee will primarily fulfill these responsibilities by 
carrying out the activities outlined in its Charter.
The Committee membership and the Chairman of the Committee 
will be as determined from time to time by the Board.  Each of 
the members are free from any business or other relationship 
that, in the opinion of the Board, would materially interfere with 
the exercise of their independent judgement as a member of the 
Committee. New Committee members will receive induction 
training from the Chairman of the Committee, the Chief Financial 
Officer’s and GM – Quality’s teams and the Company Secretary.  
Committee members receive continuous training.

Members of  
Remuneration  
and Nominations  
Committee	 Position	 Appointed
Geoffrey Pearce	 Chairman	 29 November 2016	
Greg Lan	 Member	 23 February 2017	
Wesley Stringer	 Member	 19 August 2015

F I N A N C I A L S
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1.2 Remuneration Policy – Non-Executive Directors
The level of remuneration for the company’s non-executive 
directors is set to reflect the scope of the director’s responsibilities, 
the size of the company’s operations and the workload demanded. 
Probiotec believes that the current remuneration packages for 
non-executive directors are appropriate having considered the 
factors above.
The current annualised total remuneration for the company’s non-
executive directors is $171,000. The Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee reviews non-executive remuneration annually and 
makes recommendations to the Board. The Committee considers 
current market rates of remuneration for similar sized companies 
and obtains advice from independent professional firms if required. 
Shareholders will be periodically asked to approve increases in the 
fee level of non-executive directors if the size, scope, complexity 
or demands made on the directors increases.
Non-executive directors do not receive any performance related 
remuneration and are not entitled to receive performance shares, 
rights or options. 
Remuneration levels for non-executive directors for the 2018 
financial year are set out on page 24 of this report.

1.3 Remuneration Policy – Executive Directors and 
Key Management Personnel
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee has structured 
the Group’s executive remuneration policies to ensure:
•	 the policy motivates executives to pursue the long term 

growth and success of Probiotec within an appropriate 
control framework;

•	 the policy demonstrates a clear relationship between 
individual performance and remuneration; and

•	 the policy involves an appropriate balance between fixed 
and variable remuneration, reflecting the short and long 
term performance objectives appropriate to Probiotec’s 
circumstances and goals.

The Group’s remuneration framework for executive directors and 
key management personnel comprises fixed annual remuneration, 
short-term incentives and long-term incentives. The Group 
structures remuneration packages to balance between base 
incomes and “at risk” incomes to ensure that key personnel are 
retained, whilst still providing strong incentives to maximise the 
potential long-term growth of the Group. The Group has no formal 
policy in place for limiting the risk to key management personnel in 
relation to their remuneration.

Performance-based Remuneration
KPIs are set annually, with a certain level of consultation with key 
management personnel. The measures are specifically tailored to 
the area each individual is involved in and has a level of control 
over. The KPIs target areas the Board believes hold greater 
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potential for group expansion and profit, covering financial and 
non-financial as well as short and long-term goals. The level set 
for each KPI is based on budgeted figures for the Group and 
respective industry standards.
Performance in relation to the KPIs is assessed annually, with 
bonuses being awarded depending on the number and deemed 
difficulty of the KPIs achieved. Following the assessment, the KPIs 
are reviewed by the Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
in light of the desired and actual outcomes, and their efficiency is 
assessed in relation to the Group’s goals and shareholder wealth, 
before the KPIs are set for the following year.

Short-term Incentives
Executive directors and key management are eligible to receive 
short-term incentive payments, in the form of cash bonuses, 
based on the achievement of set Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) as described above. Specific performance conditions were 
set for the 2018 financial year and short-term incentives payable 
to key management personnel have been accrued for the 2018 
financial year. 

Long-term Incentives
The Group provides long-term incentives to key management 
personnel to reward sustained performance by the organisation 
as a whole. Long-term incentives are in the form of options over 
Probiotec Limited shares issued under the company’s Executive 
Option Plan, which was adopted by a resolution of members 
on 23 November 2017. The issue of shares and/or options is 
based on a review of the contributions and value of management 
personnel undertaken by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee.
At the date of this report, Wesley Stringer is the only executive 
director of Probiotec Limited. Mr. Wesley Stringer is paid a fixed 
annual remuneration. Along with his fixed annual remuneration, 
Mr. Wesley Stringer is also eligible to receive equity-based 
compensation, in the form of share options. Mr. Wesley Stringer 
was granted options during the 2016 and 2018 financial years 
(see page 26 for details).

Termination Arrangements
All key management personnel are employed subject to 
employment contracts with indefinite durations. These 
employment contracts specify a notice period of between one and 
one year (unless a greater period is required by law). The Group 
may choose to make a payment in lieu of the notice period.

1.4 Remuneration Policy - Employees
All salaried positions are evaluated based on the size of the role, 
the level of accountability and experience required, amongst 
other factors. Economic and market factors are also taken into 
consideration when evaluating the remuneration level for a 
specified role.

2. LINKING REMUNERATION TO PROBIOTEC’S 
PERFORMANCE
Probiotec has structured its remuneration policies to increase 
goal congruence between shareholders, directors and executives. 
The company believes that this will have a positive effect on 
shareholder wealth. 
The company is committed to innovation and growth, whilst 
continuing to focus on maximising profitability and long-term 
shareholder value. 
There is no formal policy linking remuneration policy and company 
performance.

3. REVIEW OF REMUNERATION
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee meets one to 
two times per year in conjunction with the release of the financial 
results or more frequently as circumstances dictate to review the 
total remuneration paid to the CEO and senior executives of the 
company. In addition to the members of the Committee, such 
Executives and/or external parties as the Chairman and members 
of that Committee think fit may be invited to attend meetings.
All Directors may attend Committee meetings; however, the 
Chief Executive Officer will have no voting rights and must not be 
present during discussions on their own remuneration. 

4. REMUNERATION DETAILS OF KEY 
MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
For the purposes of this report, “Key Management Personnel” 
(KMPs) are defined as those persons that have authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 
of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether 
executive or otherwise) of that entity.
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Directors
The following persons were directors of Probiotec Limited during the financial year:		
Geoffrey Ronald Pearce	 Chairman	
Wesley Stringer	 Managing Director
Greg Lan 	 Non-Executive Director	
Alexander Beard 	 Non-Executive Director (appointed 23 November 2017)
Graham Morton	 Non-Executive Director (resigned 13 October 2017)						    
		
Other key management personnel							     
The following persons also had responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, during 
the financial year:
Name	 Position		  Employer	
Jared Stringer	 Chief Financial Officer		  Probiotec Limited	
Dustin Stringer	 GM - Marketing		  Probiotec Limited	
Alan Hong	 GM - Accounting		  Probiotec Limited
Julie McIntosh	 Chief Operating Officer		  Probiotec Limited

No persons who were considered Key Management Personnel during the financial year ended 30 June 2017 were no longer considered 
Key Management Personnel during this financial year other than:

Graham Morton	 (resigned 13 October 2017)			    
Graham Buckeridge	 (resigned 28 November 2016)
Richard Kuo	 (resigned 28 November 2016) 
Max Johnston	 (resigned 28 November 2016)
Robin Tedder	 (resigned 29 August 2016) 

F I N A N C I A L S

The Directors and identified KMPs received the following compensation for their services during the year:
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Short-Term Benefits Post Employment Benefits

Equity 
Based 

Benefits

2018 Position

Salary, Fees & 
Commissions 

$

Short Term 
Incentives1 

$

Non-Cash 
Benefits 

$

Annual 
Leave

$

Long 
Service 
Leave2 

$

Superannuation 
Contribution 

$
Options  

$
Total 

$

Proportion of 
Remuneration 

that is 
performance 

based  
%

Directors &  
Secretaries
Wesley Stringer CEO / Executive 

Director
353,228 - 71,219 - 13,611 21,250 332,934 792,242 42.0

Geoffrey Ronald 
Pearce

Non-Executive 
Director

68,493 - - - - 6,507 - 75,000 -

Graham Morton3 Non-Executive 
Director

12,785 - - - - 1,215 - 14,000 -

Greg Lan Non-Executive 
Director

23,436 - - - - 24,564 - 48,000 -

Alexander 
Beard4

Non-Executive 
Director

- - - - - - - - -

Jared Stringer CFO / Company 
Secretary

266,003 - - - 9,943 23,087 66,719 365,742 18.2

  723,945 - 71,219 - 23,554 76,623 399,653 1,294,994 30.9
Other Key  
Management  
Personnel
Dustin Stringer GM - Marketing 152,562 4,500 12,479 - 7,760 13,881 1,620 192,802 3.2
Julie McIntosh COO 210,300 - - - 2,739 27,027 39,856 279,922 14.2
Alan Hong GM - 

Accounting
145,593 4,500 11,820 - 7,793 24,233 1,620 195,559 3.1

  508,455 9,000 24,299 - 18,292 65,141 43,096 668,283 7.8
1,232,400 9,000 95,518 - 20,986 141,764 442,749 1,963,277 23.0

No long-term employee benefits, other than equity-based benefits and accrued long service leave have been provided to Directors, 
Secretaries or Key Management personnel during the year.

1 Short term incentives were accrued during the year but will be paid during the 2019 financial year.
2 All Long Service Leave amounts relate to accrued balances. No Long Service Leave was taken or paid out during the year.
3 Resigned 13 October 2017
4 Appointed 23 November 2017, an amount of $29,173 was paid to CVC Managers Pty Ltd in relation to Mr Beard’s service.
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Short-Term Benefits Post Employment Benefits

Equity 
Based 

Benefits

2017 Position

Salary, Fees & 
Commissions 

$

Short Term 
Incentives1 

$

Non-Cash 
Benefits 

$

Annual 
Leave

$

Long 
Service 

Leave 
$

Superannuation 
Contribution 

$
Options  

$
Total 

$

Proportion of 
Remuneration 

that is 
performance 

based  
%

Directors &  
Secretaries
Wesley Stringer CEO / Executive 

Director
301,647 68,016 49,339 - 8,256 19,408 - 446,666 15.2

Geoffrey Ronald 
Pearce1

Non-Executive 
Director

36,350 - - - - 3,453 - 39,803 -

Graham Morton2 Non-Executive 
Director

30,741 - - - - 2,920 - 33,661 -

Greg Lan3 Non-Executive 
Director

- - - - - 18,000 - 18,000 -

Richard David 
Kuo4

Non-Executive 
Director

22,917 - - - - - - 22,917 -

Graham Harry 
Buckeridge12

Non-Executive 
Director

- - - - - 12,000 - 12,000 -

Robert Maxwell 
Johnston12

Non-Executive 
Director

28,538 - - - - 2,711 - 31,249 -

Robin Tedder5 Non-Executive 
Director

8,000 - - - - - - 8,000 -

Jared Stringer CFO / Company 
Secretary

232,591 22,984 - - 4,820 22,096 - 282,491 8.1

  660,784 91,000 49,339 - 13,076 80,588 - 894,787 10.2
Other Key  
Management  
Personnel
Dustin Stringer GM - Marketing 145,547 6,444 16,368 - 3,504 13,827 - 185,690 3.5

Julie McIntosh GM - Supply 
Chain 

153,280 7,848 - - 1,583 22,782 - 185,493 4.2

Alan Hong GM - 
Accounting

148,083 7,839 - - 2,823 24,179 - 182,924 4.3

  446,910 22,131 16,368 - 7,910 60,788 - 554,107 4.0
1,107,694 113,131 65,707 - 20,986 141,376 - 1,448,894 7.8

No long-term employee benefits, other than equity-based benefits and accrued long service leave have been provided to Directors, 
Secretaries or Key Management personnel during the year.
1 Appointed 28 November 2016
2 Appointed 19 October 2016
3 Appointed 15 February 2017
4 Resigned 28 November 2016
5 Resigned 29 August 2016
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F I N A N C I A L S

Options issued to Chief Executive Officer (CEO)	
On 6 October 2015, the issue of 1,000,000 options to the CEO was approved at a general meeting on the terms set forth below -
(a)	 Each option has an exercise price of $0.50 per fully paid ordinary share
(b)	 The options will lapse 36 months after their date of grant
(c)	 The options do not vest until 12 months after their date of grant
(d)	 Each option entitles the holder to 1 fully paid ordinary share
(e)	 Shares issued upon exercise of option will rank equally with all existing ordinary shares of the company

On 23 November 2017, the issue of 1,000,000 options to the CEO was approved at a general meeting on the terms set forth below -
(f)	 Each option has an exercise price of $0.77 per fully paid ordinary share
(g)	 The options will lapse 36 months after their date of grant
(h)	 The options do not vest until 12 months after their date of grant
(i)	 Each option entitles the holder to 1 fully paid ordinary share
(j)	 Shares issued upon exercise of option will rank equally with all existing ordinary shares of the company

On 23 January 2018, the issue of 3,600,000 options to the CEO was approved at a general meeting on the terms set forth below -
(k)	 Each option has an exercise price of $1.20 per fully paid ordinary share
(l)	 The options will lapse 24 months after their date of grant
(m)	 The options vest on the grant date
(n)	 Each option entitles the holder to 1 fully paid ordinary share
(o)	 Shares issued upon exercise of option will rank equally with all existing ordinary shares of the company

Full Details of these options can be found on page 27.

No options issued to the CEO were exercised during the year ended 30 June 2018. 



27.

Probiotec Annual Report 2018

5. INTEREST IN SHARES & OPTIONS
The number of options held by key management personnel is as follows:

The number of shares held by key management personnel is as follows:

Directors
Balance at 

1/07/2016

Share acquisitions 
through exercise of 

share options

Other 
purchases 
during the 

year*
Sold during 

the year
Balance at 
30/06/17

Share acquisitions 
through exercise of 

share options

Other 
purchases 
during the 

year*
Sold during 

the year
Balance at 
30/06/17

Wes Stringer 867,646 - - - 867,646 - 175,227 - 1,042,873

Geoffrey Pearce              -   - 2,527,900 - 2,527,900 - 677,152 - 3,205,052

Alexander Beard n/a n/a n/a n/a - - 179,547 - 179,547

Greg Lan - - 100,135 - 100,135 - - - 100,135

Total for Directors  
918,083

 
-

 
2,628,035

 
-

 
3,495,681

 
-

 
1,031,926

 
-

 
4,527,607

Alan Hong - - - - - 200,000 - - 200,000

Jared Stringer 315,573 - 201,558 - 517,131 500,000 - (27,131) 990,000

Julie McIntosh - - - - - 200,000 - - 200,000

Dustin Stringer 97,000 - 33,878 - 130,878 200,000 - (7,000) 323,878

Total for KMPs 412,573 - 235,436 - 648,009 1,100,000 - (34,161) 1,713,878

Name
Grant 
Date

Vesting 
Date

Expiry 
Date

Exercise 
Price

Balance  at 
start  of 
the year 
number

Option 
Granted  

during  the 
year number

Options 
lapsed/ 

forfeited  
during the 

year number

Options 
exercised  

during the 
year number

Option 
Vested 

during the 
year number

Balance  
vested at end 

of the year 
number

Balance  
unvested at 

end of the 
year number

Fair 
Value per 

options 
at grated  

date
Wesley 
Stringer

06.10.2015 06.10.2016 05.10.2018 $0.50 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000 - $0.01

Wesley 
Stringer

23.11.2017 22.11.2018 22.11.2020 $0.77 - 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000 $0.02

Wesley 
Stringer

23.01.2018 23.01.2018 22.01.2020 $1.20 - 3,600,000 - - - 3,600,000 - $0.10

Dustin 
Stringer

01.07.2015 01.07.2016 30.06.2018 $0.50 200,000 - - (200,000) - - - $0.01

Dustin 
Stringer

01.07.2017 01.07.2018 30.06.2020 $0.65 - 100,000 - - - - 100,000 $0.02

Alan  
Hong

01.07.2015 01.07.2016 30.06.2018 $0.50 200,000 - - (200,000) - - - $0.01

Alan  
Hong

01.07.2017 01.07.2018 30.06.2020 $0.65 - 100,000 - - - - 100,000 $0.02

Julie 
McIntosh

01.07.2015 01.07.2016 30.06.2018 $0.50 200,000 - - (200,000) - - - $0.01

Julie 
McIntosh

01.07.2017 01.07.2018 30.06.2020 $0.65 - 250,000 - - - - 250,000 $0.02

Julie 
McIntosh

19.12.2017 19.12.2017 18.12.2019 $1.20 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 - $0.03

Jared 
Stringer

01.07.2015 01.07.2016 30.06.2018 $0.50 500,000 - - (500,000) - - - $0.01

Jared 
Stringer

01.07.2017 01.07.2018 30.06.2020 $0.65 - 500,000 - - - - 500,000 $0.02

Jared 
Stringer

19.12.2017 19.12.2017 18.12.2019 $1.20 - 1,800,000 - - 1,800,000 1,800,000 - $0.03

  2,100,000 8,350,000 - (1,100,000) 2,800,000 7,400,000 1,950,000
*All options are forfeited if the grantee resigns from the company prior to the exercise or expiry of the options.
**All options have been valued using the Black-Scholes option model. The values of the options calculated under this method are allocated evenly over the vesting period.
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Remuneration Report (Audited) (continued)

6. SHARE OPTIONS EXERCISED OR LAPSED DURING THE YEAR
No share options issued to directors or Key Management Personnel were exercised, lapsed or forfeited during the year ended 30 June 
2018, other than those set out on page 27.
The board has no formal policy in place for limiting the risk to the directors or other key management personnel in relation to the options 
issued.

7. CONTRACTS OF EMPLOYMENT
All executive staff employed by the Group are subject to employment contracts, which set out the terms and conditions of their 
employment. These contracts define their level of remuneration, length of contract (if for fixed period) and termination events amongst 
other areas. The standard notice period for employees of the Group is one month; however, this may be varied to be up to one year in 
limited instances.

End of audited remuneration report.

Proceedings on Behalf of the Company
No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any proceedings to which the 
company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of those proceedings.

Non-audit Services
The board of directors is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year is compatible with the general standard of 
independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the services disclosed below did not 
compromise the external auditor’s independence for the following reasons:
• 	all non-audited services are reviewed and approved by the board prior to commencement to ensure that they do not adversely 

affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and
• the nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principles relating to auditors independence as set out in Code 

of Conduct APES 110 Code of Ethics for professional accountants issued by the Accounting professional & ethical standards board, 
including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for the company, acting 
as advocate for the company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards.

No fees for non-audit services were paid/payable to the external auditors during the year ended 30 June 2018.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 29 of 
this report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Board of Directors.

Director
Wesley Stringer	  
Signed at Laverton this 23rd day of August 2018



29.

Probiotec Annual Report 2018

Auditor’s Independence Declaration



30.

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Comprehensive Income  
for the year ended 30 June 2018

PROBIOTEC LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
(ACN: 075 170 151)

               Consolidated Group

Note
2018 

$
2017 

$

Sales revenue from continuing operations 2  75,724,762  60,649,406 
Cost of goods sold  (46,933,686)  (37,860,422)
Gross profit  28,791,076  22,788,984 
Other income 2  715,636  101,014 
Warehousing & distribution expenses  (4,204,017)  (4,418,050)
Sales and marketing expenses  (5,659,601)  (5,380,991)
Finance costs  (671,765)  (438,606)
Transaction costs  (597,576)  -   
Administration and other expenses 4  (12,627,475)  (8,664,773)

Profit / (loss) from continuing activities before income tax expense  5,746,278  3,987,578 
Income tax expense relating to continuing activities 5  (1,469,559)  (1,203,364)

Profit / (loss) from continuing activities for the period attributable to owners of the parent 
entity

 4,276,719  2,784,214 

Profit / (loss) from discontinued operations 6  (700,144)  (520,052)

Profit / (loss) for the period attributable to owners of the parent entity 3  3,576,575  2,264,162 

Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income / (loss) to be classified to profit and loss when specific 
conditions are met

  

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations  84,394  20,320 
Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to profit and loss
Revaluation gains / (loss) on land and buildings - (293,873)
Income tax on items of other comprehensive income - -

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  84,394 (273,553)
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the parent entity 3,660,969 1,990,609

Earnings per share for profit attributable to owners of the parent entity
Basic earnings per share (cents) 29 5.7 4.3
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 29 5.6 4.3

Earnings / (loss) per share from discontinued operations
Basic earnings per share (cents) 29 (1.1) (1.0)
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 289 (1.1) (1.0)

The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes					   
					   

F I N A N C I A L S
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PROBIOTEC LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
(ACN: 075 170 151)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2018

               Consolidated Group

Note
2018 

$
2017 

$

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 12  1,816,089 321,624
Trade and other receivables 13  16,472,056 10,822,143
Inventories 14  11,560,368 9,753,827
Assets held for sale 17  12,437,889 -
Other current assets 15  339,450 469,438
Total Current Assets  42,625,852 21,367,032

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 16  29,620,819 26,641,899
Intangible assets 17  18,323,959 18,811,553
Deferred tax assets 18  3,086,835 4,300,972
Total Non-Current Assets  51,031,613 49,754,424
Total Assets  93,657,465 71,121,456

Current Liabilities
Trade & other payables 19  13,994,010 10,769,451
Short-term interest bearing liabilities 20  6,209,060 4,394,491
Current tax liabilities  546,269 -
Short-term provisions 21  3,127,497 919,218
Total Current Liabilities  23,876,836 16,083,160

Non-Current Liabilities
Long-term interest bearing liabilities 20  8,713,164 3,057,292
Deferred tax liabilities 22  7,844,208 6,746,030
Long-term provisions 21  876,911 668,265
Total Non-Current Liabilities  17,434,283 10,471,587
Total Liabilities  41,311,119 26,554,747
Net Assets  52,346,346 44,566,709

Equity
Contributed equity 23  38,596,329 33,686,519
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 24  (287,254) (371,648)
Share Based Payments Reserve 24  477,952 18,931
Asset Revaluation Reserve 24  4,026,722 4,026,722
Retained earnings  9,532,597 7,206,185
Total Equity  52,346,346 44,566,709

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes					   
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 30 June 2018

Ordinary 
Share 

Capital 
$

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve 

$

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 
$

Share 
Based 

Payments 
Reserve

$

Retained  
Earnings 

$
Total 

$

Balance as at 1 July 2016  33,686,519  (391,968)  4,320,595  18,933  6,000,607  43,634,686 

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year  -  -  - -  2,264,162  2,264,162 
Asset revaluations (net of tax) - -  (293,873) - -  (293,873)
Other comprehensive income  -  20,320  - -  -  20,320 
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  20,320  (293,873)  -  2,264,162  1,990,609 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners
Shares (cancelled) / issued during the year -  -  - (2)  - (2)
Dividends paid or provided for  -  -  - -  (1,058,584)  (1,058,584)
Balance as at 30 June 2017  33,686,519  (371,648)  4,026,722  18,931  7,206,185  44,566,709 

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year  -  -  - -  3,576,575  3,576,575 
Asset revaluations (net of tax) - - - - - -
Other comprehensive income  -  84,394  -  -  84,394 
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  84,394 - -  3,576,575  3,660,969 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners
Shares / options (cancelled) issued during the year  4,909,810  -  -  459,021  -  5,368,831 
Dividends paid or provided for  -  -  - -  (1,250,163)  (1,250,163)
Balance as at 30 June 2018  38,596,329  (287,254)  4,026,722  477,952  9,532,597  52,346,346 

The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes					   
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PROBIOTEC LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
(ACN: 075 170 151)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2018

               Consolidated Group

Note
2018 

$
2017 

$

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Receipts from customers  72,033,523 65,957,661
Payments to suppliers and employees  (64,375,578) (61,427,888)
Interest and other costs of finance paid  (671,765) (441,760)
Income tax paid  (763,302)  -   
Net cash provided by operating activities 28 (b)  6,222,878 4,088,013

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Payment for property, plant and equipment  (4,598,544) (2,512,021)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  -   39,597
Payment for investment in subsidiaries, net of cash received 9  (4,202,408) -
Purchase of intangible assets  (914,273) (735,093)
Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities  (9,715,225) (3,207,517)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from issues of shares  850,000 -
Dividends Paid  (1,250,163) (1,058,584)
Proceeds from borrowings  7,061,059 454,766
Repayment of borrowings  (1,674,084) (460,676)
Net cash used in financing activities  4,986,812 (1,064,494)

Net Increase / (decrease) in cash held  1,494,465 (183,998)
Cash at beginning of financial year  321,624 505,622
Cash at end of  financial year 12  1,816,089 321,625

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT	
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in		
money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in		
the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows:		
Cash  1,816,089 321,624

 1,816,089 321,624

The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes				  

PROBIOTEC LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
(ACN: 075 170 151)
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1.	 STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

The financial report covers Probiotec Limited (“company”) and 
controlled entities (“group”). Probiotec Limited is a for-profit listed 
public company, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The 
financial report is for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 and is 
presented in Australian dollars.

Basis of Preparation			 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which 
has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, Australian Accounting interpretations, other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. 
The accounting policies set out below have been consistently 
applied to all years presented.

Reporting Basis and Convention
The financial report has been prepared on an accrual basis and is 
applied on historical costs modified by the revaluation of selected 
non-current assets, financial liabilities and derivative financial 
instruments for which the fair value basis of accounting has been 
applied.

Compliance with IFRS
Australian Accounting Standards include International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted in Australia. Compliance with 
Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial 
statements and notes of Probiotec Limited comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Material 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial 
statements have been consistently applied unless stated 
otherwise.

Authorisation for issue
This financial report was authorized for issue by the board of 
directors of Probiotec Limited on 23 August 2018.

Accounting Policies				  
(a)	 Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the 
assets, liabilities and results of the parent Probiotec Limited (Listed 
Public Limited) and all of the subsidiaries (including any structured 
entities). Subsidiaries are entities the parent controls. The parent 
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. 
The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated into the financial statements of the Group from the 
date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation 
of a subsidiary is discontinued from the date that control ceases. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2018

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains or 
losses on transactions between group entities are fully eliminated 
on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 
changed and adjustments made where necessary to ensure 
uniformity of the accounting policies adopted by the Group.
Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or 
indirectly, to the Group are presented as “non-controlling 
interests”. The Group initially recognises non-controlling interests 
that are present ownership interests in subsidiaries and are 
entitled to a proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net assets on 
liquidation at either fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ 
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net assets. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, non-controlling interests are attributed 
their share of profit or loss and each component of other 
comprehensive income. Non-controlling interests are shown 
separately within the equity section of the statement of financial 
position and statement of comprehensive income.
All inter-company balances and transactions between entities in 
the group, including any unrealised profits or losses, have been 
eliminated on consolidation.

(b)	 Income Tax

(i) General				  
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods 
are measured as the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the taxation authorities. The income tax expense for the 
period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income 
based on the notional income tax rate of each jurisdiction adjusted 
by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable 
to temporary differences between the tax base of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, 
and to unused tax losses.
Deferred tax balances are determined using the balance sheet 
liability method which calculates temporary differences based on 
the carrying amounts of an entity’s asset and liabilities carried 
in the financial statements and their associated tax bases. No 
deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where 
there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 
The amount of deferred tax provided will be based on the 
expected manner of realisation of the asset or settlement of the 
liability, using tax rates enacted on reporting date. Deferred tax is 
credited in profit or loss except where it relates to items that may 
be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is 
adjusted directly against equity. 
Deferred tax assets will be recognised only to the extent that it 
is probable that future income tax profits will be available against 
which the assets can be utilised. The amount of benefits brought 
to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the 
assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation 
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legislation and the anticipation that the group will derive sufficient 
future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and 
to comply with the conditions of the deductibility imposed by law.  
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at 
each balance date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all 
or part of the deferred income tax to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance date and are recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset 
to be recovered. 

(ii) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these 
circumstances, the GST is recognised as part the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. 
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are 
shown inclusive of GST. 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross 
basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows. 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

(c)	 Foreign Currency Translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of each of the group’s entities is measured 
using the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements 
are presented in Australian dollars which is the parent entity’s 
functional and presentation currency.

 (ii) Foreign Currency Transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at 
the year end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at 
historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated at the date when the fair 
value was determined.

(iii) Translation of group companies’ functional currency to 
presentation currency
The results of the British and Irish subsidiaries are translated into 
Australian dollars as at the date of the transactions. Assets and 
liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at balance 
date.

Exchange variations resulting from the translation are recognised 
in the foreign currency translation reserve in other comprehensive 
income.

(d)	 Impairment of assets
The recoverable amount of the Group’s assets excluding deferred 
tax assets and goodwill are reviewed at each reporting date 
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists, the asset is tested for impairment by 
comparing the recoverable amount (being the higher of the asset’s 
fair value less cost to sell and value in use) to its carrying amount. 
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life 
and assets not ready for use are tested for impairment at least 
annually. The recoverable amount is estimated for the individual 
asset or, if it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount 
for the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash 
generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs is determined. 
CGUs have been determined as the smallest identifiable group of 
assets that generate cash inflows largely independent of the cash 
flow of other assets. 
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense when the carrying 
amount of an asset or the CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first 
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
CGU and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets 
in the unit on a pro rata basis.
An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for an asset (other 
than goodwill) is reversed if, and only where there is an indicator 
that the impairment loss may no longer exist, and there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
The increased carrying amount of an asset due to a reversal of an 
impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined (net of amortisation) had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
In calculating the value in use, the cash flow includes projections 
of cash inflows and outflows from continuing use of the asset and 
cash flows associated with disposal of the asset. The cash flows 
are estimated for the assets in their current condition and do not 
include cash flows and out flows expected to arise from future 
restructuring which are not yet committed, or from improving 
or enhancing the asset’s performance. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated cash flows are discounted to their present value 
effectively using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current 
market assessments of the risk specific to the asset or CGU.

(e)	 Inventories				 
Inventories, which include raw materials, work in progress and 
finished goods, are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Costs comprise all cost of purchase and conversion, 
including material, labour and appropriate portion of fixed and 
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variable overhead expenses. Costs have been assigned to 
inventory on hand at reporting date using either the first-in-first-
out (F.I.F.O.) basis or the weighted average cost basis, depending 
on the nature of product being manufactured. Fixed overheads 
are allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business, less the estimated cost of completion and selling 
expenses.

(f)	 Property, Plant and Equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at historical 
cost or fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the item.

(i) Property				  
Freehold land and buildings are stated at fair value (being 
the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between 
knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction), 
based on periodic, valuations by external valuers, less subsequent 
depreciation for the building. Any accumulated depreciation at the 
date of valuation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of 
the asset and the net amount is reinstated to the revalued amount 
of the asset. Independent valuations are carried out every three to 
five years, with internal reviews performed regularly to ensure that 
the carrying amounts of land and buildings do not differ materially 
from the fair value at the reporting date.
Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and 
buildings are credited to a revaluation reserve in equity. Decreases 
that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged 
against fair value reserves directly in equity; all other decreases 
are charged to profit or loss. Each year the difference between 
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset 
charged to profit or loss and depreciation based on the asset’s 
original cost is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained 
earnings. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the 
revaluation reserve relating to the asset are transferred to retained 
earnings. 

(ii) Plant and Equipment				  
Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, including costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management, less depreciation and any impairments
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually 
by directors to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount 
from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed as the 
higher of fair value less costs to sell or value in use. In the event 
the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than the 
estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written 
down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

impairment losses are recognized either in profit and loss or as a 
revaluation decrease if the impairment loss relates to a revalued 
asset.
The cost of fixed assets constructed within the group includes the 
cost of materials, direct labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate 
proportion of fixed and variable overheads. Subsequent costs 
are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a 
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss during the 
financial year in which they were incurred.

Depreciation
The depreciable amount of property, plant and equipment, 
including capitalised lease assets, but excluding freehold land, is 
depreciated on a straight line basis over their useful lives to the 
group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either 
the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of 
the improvements.
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets 
are:
	 Buildings 	 4% 
	 Leased Plant, Equipment and Other 	 5% to 12.5% 
	 Plant, Equipment and Other 	 5% to 50%
The assets’ residual value and useful life are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance date.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses are 
included in profit or loss. 

(g)	 Leases
Leases where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental 
to the ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership, are 
transferred to the entities within the group are classified as finance 
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lower of the fair value 
of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance 
charges, are included in the current and non-current interest 
bearing liabilities. Each lease payment is allocated between the 
liability and the finance charges. The interest element of the lease 
payment is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as 
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and 
equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over 
the shorter of the asset’s useful life or the lease term, unless it 
is reasonably certain that ownership will be obtained by the end 
of the lease term where it is depreciated over the period of the 
expected use which is the useful life of the asset.

F I N A N C I A L S
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Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the 
risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as expenses 
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

(h)	 Investments in Associates
Associates comprise entities over which the parent entity or the 
Group have significant influence and hold an ownership interest. 
Investments in associated companies are recognised in the 
financial statements by applying the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method of accounting the carrying amounts of 
investments in associates are increased or decreased to recognise 
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and 
other changes in net assets of the associates. The Group’s share 
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of associates is included in 
the consolidated profit and loss.
The financial statements of the associate are used to apply the 
equity method. The reporting dates of the associate and the 
parent are identical and both use consistent accounting policies.
Associates are accounted for in the parent entity financial 
statements at cost.

(i)	 Interests in Joint Venture Entities
Joint arrangements represent the contractual sharing of control 
between parties in a business venture where unanimous decisions 
about relevant activities are required.
Separate joint venture entities providing joint venturers with 
an interest in net assets are classified as a joint venture and 
accounted for using the equity method. Refer to Note 1(n) for a 
description of the equity method of accounting.
Joint operations represent arrangements whereby joint operators 
maintain direct interests in each asset and exposure to each 
liability of the arrangement. The Group’s interests in the assets, 
liabilities, revenue and expenses of joint operations are included in 
the respective line items of the consolidated financial statements.
Gains and losses resulting from sales to a joint operation are 
recognised to the extent of the other parties’ interests. When 
the Group makes purchases from a joint operation, it does 
not recognise its share of the gains and losses from the joint 
arrangement until it resells those goods/assets to a third party. 

(j)	 Intangibles

i) Goodwill				  
Goodwill on consolidation is initially recorded at the amount 
by which the purchase price for a business or for an ownership 
interest in a controlled entity plus the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree exceeds the fair value 
attributed to the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on 
acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. 
Goodwill on acquisition of associates is included in investments 

in associates. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business 
combination is allocated to each of the group’s cash-generating 
units, or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of 
whether other assets or liabilities of the group are assigned to 
these units or groups of units. Impairment is determined by 
assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, 
or group of cash-generating units, to which the goodwill relates. 
Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently 
reversed.  Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the 
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.	

ii) Trademarks, Licenses, product development costs and Product 
Dossiers 			
Trademarks, licenses, product development costs and product 
dossiers (“Developed Products”) are initially recognised at 
cost. Intangible assets with an indefinite life are tested at each 
reporting date for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Those with a finite life are carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Developed products with finite lives are amortised on a 
straight line basis over a useful life of between 5 and 20 years. 
Amortisation is included within administration and other expenses 
in the statement of comprehensive income.

iii) Research and Development – Internally generated	
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development 
expenditure incurred on an individual project is capitalised if the 
product or service is technically feasible, adequate resources 
are available to complete the project, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will be generated and expenditure attributable 
to the project can be measured reliably. Capitalised expenditure 
comprises costs of materials, services, direct labour and directly 
attributable overheads. Other development costs are expensed 
when they are incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is 
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment 
losses and amortised over the period of expected future sales 
from the related projects. The carrying value of development costs 
is reviewed annually when the asset is not yet available for use, or 
when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 
be impaired.

iv) Customer relationships 			 
Customer relationships are initially recognised at cost. They are 
tested at each reporting date for impairment and are carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Customer relationships with finite lives are 
amortised on a straight line basis over a useful life of 10 years. 
Amortisation is included within administration and other expenses 
in the statement of comprehensive income.
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(k)	 Employee Benefits

i) Wages, Salaries & Annual Leave		
Liabilities for employee benefits such as wages, salaries, annual 
leave, sick leave and other current employee entitlements 
represent present obligations resulting from employees’ services 
provided to reporting date, and are measured at the amount 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

ii) Long Service Leave				  
Liabilities relating to Long Service Leave are measured as the 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be 
made in respect to services provided by employees, up to the 
reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage 
levels, experience of employee departures and period of service. 
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the reporting date on corporate bonds with terms to maturity that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

iii) Superannuation				 
Contributions are made by the entity to employee superannuation 
funds and are charged as expenses when incurred. The 
consolidated entity does not maintain any retirement benefit 
funds.

iv) Employee share based payments			 
Shares issued pursuant to an employee share plan, which are 
facilitated by means of a loan with recourse only to the shares, are 
treated as an option grant. The loan is shown as a reduction in 
equity until the shares are either cancelled or settled in accordance 
with the terms of the plan. The fair value of options granted is 
recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding 
increase in the share-based payments reserve in equity. The fair 
value of options granted is measured using the Black Scholes 
model. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect 
the actual number of options that vest, except where forfeiture is 
due to market related conditions. 
At each subsequent reporting date until vesting, the cumulative 
change to profit or loss is the product of:
•	 The grant date fair value.
•	 The current best estimate of the number of securities that 

will vest, taking into account factors such as the likelihood 
of employee turnover during the vesting period and the 
likelihood of non-market performance conditions not being 
met.

•	 The expired portion of the vesting period.

(l)	 Financial Instruments			 

Recognition					   
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus 
directly attributable transaction costs except for financial 

instruments that are measured at fair value through profit and 
loss, which are initially measured at fair value and any directly 
attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss 
immediately. Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments 
are measured as set out below.

Loans and Receivables				  
Loan and Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Loans and receivables are initially measured at 
fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost less 
any allowance for impairment. Trading terms are between 14 days 
to 90 days. An allowance for impairment is recognised when it 
becomes probable that all or part of the loan or receivable will 
not be recoverable. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss 
when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired. 

Trade and other payables				  
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the group prior to the year end and which 
are unpaid. These amounts are unsecured and have 30 – 90 day 
payment terms. Trade and other payables are carried at amortised 
cost, yet due to their short term nature, they are not discounted. 
Gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss through the 
amortisation process when the financial liability is derecognised.

Interest bearing liabilities
Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.	

Impairment				  
At each reporting date, the group assesses whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial instrument has been impaired 
(see note 1(d) for further details).

Derivative financial instruments
The group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward 
foreign currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its 
risk associated with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations.  
Such derivatives are stated at fair value on the date which the 
derivative contract is entered into and is subsequently remeasured 
at fair value.  The fair value of forward exchange contracts is 
calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for 
contracts with similar maturity profiles.  The fair value of interest 
rate swap contracts is determined by reference to market values 
for similar instruments.
For derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains 
or losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to net 
profit or loss for the year where they are material.

F I N A N C I A L S
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(m)	Government Grants			 
Grants from government are recognised at the fair value when 
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 
and the consolidated entity has complied with the required 
conditions. Grants relating to expense items are recognised as 
income over the periods necessary to match the grant to the costs 
they are compensating. Grants relating to assets are credited to 
deferred income and are amortised on a straight line basis over the 
expected lives of the assets.

(n)	 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable to the extent it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue can 
be measured reliably. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net 
of returns, allowances and discounts. Sales revenue comprises 
revenue earned from the provision of products and services 
to entities outside the consolidated entity. Sales revenue is 
recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership have 
transferred to the customer and can be measured reliably. Risks 
and rewards are considered passed to the buyer when goods have 
been delivered to the customer.
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective 
interest method. This method uses the effective interest rate 
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash 
receipts over the expected life of the financial asset to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset. Interest income is included 
as financial income in profit or loss. Dividends are recognised when 
the group’s right to receive payment is established.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax 
(GST).

(o)	 Financing costs
Financing costs include interest income and expenses, 
amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings, 
amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the 
arrangement of borrowings and lease finance charges. Borrowing 
costs are expensed as incurred except when directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset, in 
which case they form part of the cost of the asset.

(p)	 Provisions				  
A provision is recognised when there is a legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that a 
future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions 
are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the 
reporting date using a discounted cash flow methodology.

(q)	 Cash				  
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes 
deposits at call with financial institutions which are readily 

convertible to cash on hand and are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(r)	 Comparative Figures
Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes 
in presentation for the current year. The fair value measurement 
of the freehold buildings was reclassified from level 2 to level 3 
of the fair value hierarchy in the prior year. This arose due to the 
valuation technique applied by the independent valuer where the 
depreciated replacement cost method was adopted. For details of 
the reclassification refer to Note 33.

(s) 	 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the net profit 
attributable to members of the Company, excluding any costs 
of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus 
elements.
Diluted earnings per share is determined by dividing the net profit 
attributable to members of the Company, by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares 
adjusted for any bonus elements.

(t) 	 Contributed equity
Issued and paid up capital is recognised based on the 
consideration received by the Company.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds.

(u)	 Business combinations
Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control 
over one or more businesses. A business combination is accounted 
for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination 
involving entities or businesses under common control. The 
business combination will be accounted for from the date that 
control is attained, whereby the fair value of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed is 
recognised (subject to certain limited exemptions).
When measuring the consideration transferred in the business 
combination, any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, contingent consideration classified as equity is not 
remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is 
remeasured in each reporting period to fair value, recognising any 
change to fair value in profit or loss.
All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations 
are recognised as expenses in profit or loss when incurred.
The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of 
goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase.
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(v)	 Fair Value Measurements
The Group measures and recognises the following assets and 
liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis after initial recognition:

–	 cash and receivables;
–	 freehold land and building;
-	 trade payables, borrowings and provisions.

The Group subsequently measures some items of freehold land 
and buildings at fair value on a non-recurring basis. The Group 
does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a 
non-recurring basis.

Fair Value Hierarchy 
AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of 
fair value information by level of the fair value hierarchy, which 
categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible 
levels based on the lowest level that an input that is significant to 
the measurement can be categorised into as follows:

Level 1
Measurements 
based on quoted 
prices (unadjusted) 
in active markets 
for identical assets 
or liabilities that the 
entity can access at 
the measurement 
date.

Level 2
Measurements 
based on inputs 
other than quoted 
prices included in 
Level 1 that are 
observable for the 
asset or liability, 
either directly or 
indirectly.

Level 3
Measurements 
based on 
unobservable 
inputs for the 
asset or liability.

–	 Income approach: valuation techniques that convert 
estimated future cash flows or income and expenses into a 
single discounted present value.

–	 Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the current 
replacement cost of an asset at its current service capacity.

	 Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the 
assumptions that buyers and sellers would use when pricing the 
asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting 
a valuation technique, the Group gives priority to those techniques 
that maximise the use of observable inputs and minimise the use 
of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using market 
data (such as publicly available information on actual transactions) 
and reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would 
generally use when pricing the asset or liability are considered 
observable, whereas inputs for which market data is not available 
and therefore are developed using the best information available 
about such assumptions are considered unobservable.
Further details on fair values of the Group’s assets and liabilities 
measured and recognised on a recurring basis after initial 
recognition and their categorisation within the fair value hierarchy 
can be found in note 33.

(w)	New Accounting Standards	 	
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that 
are not yet mandatorily applicable to the Group, together with an 
assessment of the potential impact of such pronouncements on 
the Group when adopted in future periods, are discussed below:
–	 AAASB 16: Leases (applicable to annual reporting periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2019)
When effective, this standard will replace the current accounting 
requirements applicable to leases in AASB 117 and related 
Interpretations. AASB 16 introduces a single lessee accounting 
model that eliminates the requirement for leases to be classified as 
operating or finance leases.
The main changes introduced by the new standard include:

•	 Recognition of a right-to-use asset and liability for all 
leases (excluding short term leases with less than 12 
months of tenure and leases relating to low value assets);

•	 Deprecation of right-to-use assets in-line with AASB 
116 Property, plant and equipment in profit or loss 
and unwinding of the liability in principal and interest 
components;

•	 Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a 
rate are included in the initial measurement of the lease 
liability using the index or rate at the commencement 
date; 

•	 By applying a practical expedient, a lessee is permitted to 
elect not to separate non-lease components and instead 
account all components as a lease; and

•	 Additional disclosure requirements.

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in 
an active market are determined using one or more valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent 
possible, the use of observable market data. If all significant inputs 
required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or liability 
is included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs are not 
based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included 
in Level 3.

Valuation techniques 
The Group selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in 
the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available to 
measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data 
primarily depends on the specific characteristics of the asset or 
liability being measured. The valuation techniques selected by the 
Group are consistent with one or more of the following valuation 
approaches:

– 	Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and 
other relevant information generated by market transactions 
for identical or similar assets or liabilities.

F I N A N C I A L S
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The transitional provisions of this standard allows a lessee to either 
retrospectively apply the standard to comparatives in line with 
AASB 108: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Error; or recognise the cumulative effect of retrospective 
application as an adjustment to opening equity on the date of 
initial application. 
The directors expect that the adoption of AASB 16 will result in 
lease assets and liabilities being recognised on balance sheet and 
a change in how related expenses are incurred. The Group has 
a number of leases relating to warehouses and equipment. It is 
expected that total lease commitments of approximately $1.1m 
will be recognised in the balance sheet as leased assets and 
liabilities with occupancy costs reclassified to depreciation and 
interest.
–	 AASB 9: Financial Instruments and associated Amending 

Standards (applicable to annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018)

The Standard will be applicable retrospectively (subject to the 
provisions on hedge accounting outlined below) and includes 
revised requirements for the classification and measurement 
of financial instruments, revised recognition and derecognition 
requirements for financial instruments and simplified requirements 
for hedge accounting.
The key changes that may affect the Group on initial application 
include certain simplifications to the classification of financial 
assets, simplifications to the accounting of embedded derivatives, 
upfront accounting for expected credit loss, and the irrevocable 
election to recognise gains and losses on investments in equity 
instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive 
income.  AASB 9 also introduces a new model for hedge 
accounting that will allow greater flexibility in the ability to hedge 
risk, particularly with respect to hedges of non financial items.  
Should the Group elect to change its hedge policies in line with 
the new hedge accounting requirements of the Standard, the 
application of such accounting would be largely prospective.
The financial assets and liabilities of the Group consist of cash, 
receivables and payables. Therefore, the directors do not expect a 
material impact on transition to AASB 9.
-	 AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

(applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018, as deferred by AASB 2015 8: Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of 
AASB 15)

When effective, this Standard will replace the current accounting 
requirements applicable to revenue with a single, principles based 
model. Except for a limited number of exceptions, including leases, 
the new revenue model in AASB 15 will apply to all contracts with 
customers as well as non monetary exchanges between entities 
in the same line of business to facilitate sales to customers and 
potential customers.

The core principle of the Standard is that an entity will recognise 
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for the goods or 
services. To achieve this objective, AASB 15 provides the following 
five step process:

•	 identify the contract(s) with a customer;
•	 identify the performance obligations in the contract(s);
•	 determine the transaction price;
•	 allocate the transaction price to the performance 

obligations in the contract(s); and
•	 recognise revenue when (or as) the performance 

obligations are satisfied.
The transitional provisions of this Standard permit an entity to 
either:

•	 restate the contracts that existed in each prior period 
presented per AASB 108: Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors (subject to certain 
practical expedients in AASB 15); 

•	 or recognise the cumulative effect of retrospective 
application to incomplete contracts on the date of 
initial application. There are also enhanced disclosure 
requirements regarding revenue.

The revenue of the Group is predominantly derived from the 
supply of goods in finished form. The performance obligations are 
satisfied at the point which the goods are provided. Therefore, the 
directors expect that there will be no material impact on transition 
to AASB 15.



42.

2018 
$

2017 
$

2.	 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
(a) Revenue from:
Sale of goods  75,724,762  60,649,406 
Total Revenue  75,724,762  60,649,406 

Government subsidies received / (refunded) -  101,014 
Sundry income  715,636  -   
Total other income  715,636  101,014 
Total revenue and other income from continuing operations  76,440,398  60,750,420 

3.	 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
	 Net profit has been arrived at after including:

Finance cost - non related parties  671,765  438,606 
Foreign currency translation losses / (gains)	  (35,061)  2,420 
Bad and doubtful debts expense - trade receivables		   283,613  (32,911)
Rental expenses		   711,936  560,812 
Inventory write-offs / (write backs)  225,569  103,321 
Professional and consulting expenses  679,065  899,093 
Employee benefits expenses  21,323,724  15,797,451 
Repairs and maintenance expenses  1,041,955  1,202,795 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  2,031,212  2,047,830 
Amortisation of intangibles  977,335  740,149 
Impairment costs - property, plant and equipment  -  128,893 
Defined contribution superannuation expense  1,430,587  1,155,231 

4.	 ADMINISTRATION & OTHER EXPENSES
Administration & other expenses comprises:
Insurance  407,034  368,268 
Office expenses  656,054  476,162 
Compliance costs  223,861  175,796 
Other expenses  11,340,526  7,644,547 

 12,627,475  8,664,773 

F I N A N C I A L S
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2018 
$

2017 
$

5.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
(a) Components of Tax Expense:
Current income tax  585,355  -   
Deferred income tax  1,281,642 1,035,725
Over provision for income tax in prior years  -    -   

 1,866,997 1,035,725
Income tax is attributable to:
Profit / (loss) from continuing operations  1,469,559  1,203,364 
Profit / (loss) from discontinued operations  397,438  (167,639)

 1,866,997  1,035,725 

(b) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable on profit / (loss)
Profit from continuing operations  5,746,278  3,987,578 
Profit / (loss) from discontinued operations  (302,706)  (687,691)

 5,443,572  3,299,887 

Prima facie tax expense on profit/(loss) before income tax at 30% (2016: 30%)		   1,633,072 989,966

Add Tax effect of:
Recoupment of prior losses not yet booked  (210,000)  (51,953)
Tax losses not recognised  397,438  -   
Research and development tax concession  (60,000)  (90,000)
Other non allowable or assessable items  106,487  187,712 
Income tax expense / (benefit)  1,866,997  1,035,725 

6:	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS			 
During the year, Probiotec Limited undertook a review of its business operations, which resulted in the Group discontinuing its operations in 
Europe (related to the subsidiaries Probiotec (UK) Limited and Probiotec (Ireland) Limited).

The Comprehensive income of the discontinued operations was: 2018 
$

2017 
$

Revenue  974,191  1,897,004 
Impairment costs  -    (128,893)
Expenses (1,276,897) (2,455,802)
Profit / (loss) from discontinued operations before income tax (302,706) (687,691)
Income tax benefit / (expense)  (397,438)  167,639 
Profit / (loss) from discontinued operations after income tax (700,144) (520,052)

The cash flow of the discontinued operations was:
Net cash flow provided by / (used in) operating activities  (1,276,897)  (558,798)
Net cash flow provided by / (used in) investing activities  -  - 
Net cash flow provided by financing activities  -  - 
Net (decrease) / increase in cash held  (1,276,897)  (558,798)
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7:	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the 
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.							     
(i) Value in use calculation assumptions
“The recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit used for impairment testing is determined based on value-in-use calculations. Value-
in-use is calculated based on the present value of cash flow projections over a 5-year period (including a terminal value at the end of the 5 
year period) except in cases where the useful life is less than 5 years, in which case this period is used. 
The discounted cash flows for each cash-generating unit is calculated based on management forecasts for sales, gross profit and resultant 
earnings.  The assumed growth rate beyond the forecast cash flow period and discount rate used in the determination of value in use were 
0% and 10.2% respectively. The discount rate used is the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) of the Group at the reporting date. 
The assumptions used for the 2018 financial year were similar to those used from the prior year, other than the discount rate, which was re-
calculated as at balance date. These value-in-use calculations are sensitive to changes in the key assumptions used. Changes in the nature 
or quantum  of key assumptions would alter the value-in-use calculations and could potentially result in certain cash-generating units being 
subject to impairment. The value in use calculations are most sensitive to changes in the discount rate and/or changes to the forecast gross 
profits. See an analysis of the sensitivity of these value-in-use calculations (based on all other assumptions remaining constant):	

Change in discount rate Change in EBITDA (base year)
+2% +4% +6% (5%) (10%) (20%)

Impairment expense that would 
be recognised

- -  2,413,922  - -  5,542,643 

Impairment Testing for CGUs containing Goodwill
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 
be impaired. Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash generating units as follows: 

F I N A N C I A L S

The key assumptions used in the estimation of the recoverable amount relating to the Contract Manufacturing CGU are set out below. 
The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the industry and have been based on 
historical data from both external and internal sources.

2018 
$

2017 
$

Contract Manufacturing1  8,165,041 -

 1 Goodwill allocated from the acquisition of South Pack Laboratories (Aust) Pty Ltd (Note 9) 

2018 
%

Assumptions  8,165,041 
Budgeted EBITDA growth rate Nil
Discount rate 10.2
Terminal growth rate Nil

The Group performed impairment testing at 30 June 2018 and there was no impairment of goodwill allocated to the Contract 
Manufacturing CGU.							     

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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8:	 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL AND THEIR RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES
Full details of Key Management Personnel and their related party disclosures are set out in the Remuneration Report section of the 
Directors Report.

(a) Key management personnel compensation: 2018 
$

2017 
$

Short-term employee benefits  1,336,918 1,286,532
Post-employment benefits  141,764 141,376
Other long term benefits  41,846 20,986
Share-based payments  442,749 -
Total compensation  1,963,277 1,448,894

(ii) Amortisation of intangibles
As detailed in Note 1 (j), the group has a policy of amortising intangible assets with a finite useful life over a period of 3 to 20 years (other 
than those which are subject to a fixed term license) and the remainder have been determined to have an indefinite useful life. The carrying 
value of those assets with a finite useful life and those with an indefinite useful life is set out in Note 17. The determination of the useful life 
of each intangible asset, which comprises capitalised product development costs, is based on the group’s knowledge of each major category 
of intangible assets and the future economic benefits expected to be received from each. The group reassesses the useful life of intangible 
assets at each reporting date and at any future period may change the useful life of an intangible asset based on information available at 
that date. The group recognised amortisation of $977,335 relating to assets with a finite useful life during the current year. 

(ii) Capitalised Development Costs
As detailed in Note 1 (j), the Group has a policy of capitalising development costs under certain conditions. A degree of judgement is used in 
assessing the suitability of these costs for capitalisation in regards to technically feasibility, adequate resources being available to complete 
the project, the probability that future economic benefits will be generated and that the expenditure attributable to the project can be 
measured reliably. 

(iii) Share based payments
As per note 26, the Group issues share based payments in the form of options to acquire fully paid ordinary shares.
The Black Scholes valuation model is used to determine the fair value of equity settled options. Key assumptions applied in the valuation 
may require judgement and estimates, which includes the estimated number of options that will ultimately vest, the expected dividend yield 
and volatility.
The inputs used in the valuation of these options were:
Exercise price: see note 26										        
Expected volatility of company shares: 34% - 48%										        
Risk-free interest rate: 1.92% - 2.57%										        
Vesting period: As per above										        
Projected dividend yield: 3%										        
Share price: weighted average share price for 5 trading days preceeding grant date						    

Short-term employee benefits
These amounts include fees and benefits paid to the non-executive Chair and non-executive directors as well as all salary, paid leave 
benefits, fringe benefits and cash bonuses awarded to executive directors and other KMP.

Post-employment benefits
These amounts are the current-year’s estimated costs of providing for the Group’s defined benefits scheme post-retirement, 
superannuation contributions made during the year and post-employment life insurance benefits.

Other long term benefits
These amounts represent long service leave benefits accruing during the year, long-term disability benefits and deferred bonus payments.

Share-based payments
These amounts represent the expense related to the participation of KMP in equity-settled benefit schemes as measured by the fair value 
of the options, rights and shares granted on grant date.										        



46.

F I N A N C I A L S

9:	 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Acquisition of South Pack Laboratories (Aust) Pty Ltd
On 3 October 2017 Probiotec Limited (‘Probiotec’) acquired 100% 
of the issued share capital of South Pack Laboratories (Aust) Pty 
Ltd (‘SPL’), a nutraceutical and pharmaceutical contract packaging 
company that was established over 15 years ago. The acquisition 
of SPL increases the manufacturing capability and scale of 
Probiotec.
The fair value of the purchase consideration as at the date of 
acquisition are as follows:

Deferred consideration comprises of amounts deferred under a 
vendor finance agreement with $1,000,000 payable within one 
year post completion and the remaining $1,000,000 payable 
within two years post completion. Interest is payable at market 
interest rates (4.3% p.a. as at reporting date) in arrears on the 
repayment dates which are the dates one year and two years 
post completion. A new facility in the amount of $6 million was 
granted by the Group’s lender, which was used to fund the cash 
consideration for this acquisition.
Contingent consideration is subject to the achievement of EBITDA 
targets during each of the first and second years post completion 
resulting in a $1,000,000 earn out for each year if the targets are 
met. The total potential undiscounted amount of future payments 
was estimated at $2,000,000.
The fair value of the contingent consideration of $1,676,820 has 
been estimated by calculating the present value of the future 
expected cash outflows based on a discount rate of 12.6% and a 
probability factor applied to the likelihood of the earn-out being 
achieved. As at 30 June 2018, a 100% probability factor has been 
adopted for the first year earn out and a 80% probability has been 
adopted for the second year earn out. A 100% probability factor 
was used for both earn outs at acquisition date.
The fair value of the 7,900,000 shares issued as part of the 
consideration paid for SPL ($4,059,810) was based on the 30-day 
volume weighted average price prior to 20 September 2017 of 
$0.5139 per share.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Purchase Consideration $ 
Cash  5,203,671 
Deferred cash consideration  2,000,000 
Contingent cash consideration  1,676,820 
Ordinary shares issued  4,059,810 
Total Purchase Consideration	  12,940,301

$
Cash assets  1,001,263 
Other financial assets  77,569 
Current receivables  1,881,105 
Inventories  138,012 
Property, plant and equipment  411,589 
Capital works prepayments  438,440 
Non-current receivables  18,701 
Non-contractual customer relationships  3,500,000 
Payables  (481,559)
Current tax liabilities  (887,636)
Provisions  (223,649)
Deferred tax liabilities  (1,050,000)
Financial liabilities  (48,575)
Net Assets  4,775,260 
Goodwill  8,165,041 

$
Cash consideration  (5,203,671)
Cash acquired  1,001,263 
Net outflow of cash - investing activities  (4,202,408)

The fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised as at the date 
of the acquisition are as follows:

The fair value of acquired current receivables is $1,881,105. The 
gross contractual amount for current receivables is $1,881,105 of 
which none is expected to be uncollectable.
The goodwill is attributable to (amongst other things) the potential 
synergies Probiotec expects to derive from the integration of the 
SPL business into its existing business and establishing a presence 
in the packaging segment of the pharmaceutical supply chain. It 
will not be deductible for tax purposes.
Acquisition related costs of $322,963 that were not directly 
attributable to the issue of shares are included in profit or loss 
and in operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows. There 
were no attributable costs related to the issuance of shares for this 
transaction.
The purchase consideration cash out flow is as follows:

The acquired business contributed revenues of $6.8 million and 
net profit of $1.3 million (or $1.1 million after transaction costs) to 
the Group between 3 October 2017 and 30 June 2018.
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10: REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 2018 
$

2017 
$

Amounts paid/payable to ShineWing Australia for:			 
Audit services

Auditing or reviewing the financial report  137,000 123,000
 137,000 123,000

2018 
$

2017 
$

Dividend franking account
Amount of franking credits available for subsequent years  611,007 933,917

12: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand and at bank  1,816,089 321,624

Interest rate risk exposure

The Group’s and the parent entity’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in Note 31.

11: DIVIDENDS
A dividend of 1.5 cents per fully paid ordinary share was paid in relation to the financial year ended 30 June 2017. An interim dividend of 
0.75 cents per fully paid ordinary share was paid on 21 April 2018. A dividend has been declared for the year ended 30 June 2018 as per 
below.

       2017       2018
Cents per 

Share
Total 

$
Cents per 

Share
Total 

$
Recognised Amounts
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Interim dividend for half year ended 31 December  
	 fully franked at 30% corporate tax rate 0.75  456,220 0.5 264,647

Final dividend for year ended 30 June,  
	 fully franked at 30% corporate tax rate	  1.50  793,943 - -

Unrecognised Amounts
Fully paid ordinary shares

Final dividend for year ended 30 June,  
	 fully franked at 30% corporate tax rate 2.00  1,252,587 1.50 793,940
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Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

2018 
$

2017 
$

At 1 July  130,722 104,625
Provision for impairment recognised / (reversed) during the year  (49,804) 26,097
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible  -   -
At 30 June  80,918 130,722

Payment terms on receivables past due but not considered impaired have not been renegotiated. The Group has been in direct contact 
with the relevant customers and are reasonably satisfied that payment will be received in full.	

(c) Fair value and credit risk
Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

(d) Foreign exchange and interest rate risk
Information about the Group’s and the parent entity’s exposure to foreign currency risk and interest rate risk in relation to trade and other 
receivables is provided in Note 31.

F I N A N C I A L S

13: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 2018 
$

2017 
$

CURRENT
Trade accounts receivable - third parties 16,404,995 10,665,100
Less: allowance for impairment of receivables  (80,918) (130,722)
Total current trade receivables  16,324,077 10,534,378
GST receivable  34,958 73,981
Other receivables  113,021 213,784
Total current trade and other receivables 16,472,056 10,822,143

(a) An analysis of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired at the reporting date:
2018 
Gross 

$

2018 
Allowance 

$

2017 
Gross 

$

2017 
Allowance 

$
Not past due  15,855,373  -   9,896,988  -   
Past due 1 - 30 days  252,827  -   509,963  -   
Past due 31 - 60 days  222,444  (6,567) 75,115  -   
Past 61 days  74,351  (74,351) 183,034 (130,722)

 16,404,995  (80,918) 10,665,100 (130,722)

(b) Impaired trade receivables
Trade debtors are generally extended on credit terms of between 14 days to 60 days. As at 30 June 2018, current trade receivables of the 
Group with a nominal value of $80,918 (2017 - $233,809) were impaired. The amount of the allowance was $80,918 (2017 - $130,722). 
The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers, which are in unexpectedly difficult economic situations.		

Trade receivables that are neither past due or impaired relate to long standing customers with a good payment history.

Other receivables are expected to be recoverable in full and are due from reputable companies.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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2018 
$

2017 
$

14: INVENTORIES

CURRENT
Raw materials - at cost  9,277,549 6,983,386
Work in progress - at cost  1,356,761 1,137,209
Finished goods - at cost  1,200,043 2,305,976
Provision for obsolescence  (273,985) (672,744)

 11,560,368 9,753,827

15: OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments  339,450 469,438

16: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2018 
$

2017 
$

Freehold land - at independent valuation  4,030,000 4,030,000

Building - at independent valuation  11,641,280 10,970,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (585,952) (136,460)

 11,055,328 10,833,540

Plant & equipment - at cost (i)  21,821,389 17,925,359
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (9,802,894) (8,638,092)

 12,018,495 9,287,267

Leased plant & equipment  3,357,847 3,779,663
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (840,851) (1,288,571)

 2,516,996 2,491,092
TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  29,620,819 26,641,899

All of the Group’s freehold land and buildings were revalued by an independent valuer in March 2017 and resulted in a net revaluation 
decrease of $419,818. Refer to Note 33 for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the Group’s freehold land and 
buildings.							    
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(a) Movements in Carrying Amounts	

Freehold 
land 

$
Buildings 

$

Plant, 
Equipment & 

Other 
$

Leased 
Plant, 

Equipment & 
Other 

$
Total 

$

Consolidated Group
Carrying amount at 1 July 2016  3,800,000 9,059,000 10,482,733 3,384,686 26,726,419
Additions  - 871,354 1,185,902 454,765 2,512,021
Impairment  -  - (128,893)  - (128,893)
Revaluation  230,000  (649,818)  -  - (419,818)
Reclassification  - 2,058,718 (1,004,051) (1,054,667)  - 
Disposals  -  - -  - -
Transfer to property held for resale  -  -  -  -  - 
Depreciation and amortisation  - (505,714) (1,248,424) (293,692) (2,047,830)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2017 4,030,000 10,833,540 9,287,267 2,491,092 26,641,900

Carrying amount at 1 July 2017  4,030,000  10,833,540  9,287,268  2,491,092  26,641,900 
Additions  -  671,280  2,866,205  1,061,059  4,598,544 
Acquisition (see Note 9)  -  -  411,587  -  411,587 
Impairment  -  -  -  -  - 
Revaluation  -  -  -  -  - 
Reclassification  -  -  834,510  (834,510)  - 
Disposals  -  -  -  -  - 
Transfer to property held for resale  -  -  -  -  - 
Depreciation and amortisation  -  (449,492)  (1,381,076)  (200,645)  (2,031,212)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2018  4,030,000  11,055,328  12,018,495  2,516,996  29,620,819 

F I N A N C I A L S

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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17: INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2018 
$

2017 
$

(a) Intangible summary and reconciliation

Goodwill at cost  8,165,041  - 
Accumulated impairment  -    - 

 8,165,041  - 

Non-contractual customer relationships  3,500,000  - 
Accumulated impairment  -    - 
Accumulated amortisation  (256,667)  - 

 3,243,333  - 

     Developed products at cost  11,699,557  23,043,140 
Accumulated amortisation  (6,530,913)  (5,810,245)

 5,168,644  17,232,895 

Products under development at cost	  1,746,941  1,578,658 
Accumulated amortisation  -  - 

 1,746,941  1,578,658 
Total intangible assets  18,323,959  18,811,553 

Probiotec Ltd has both acquired and capitalised trademarks, licenses, product development costs and product dossiers (“Developed 
Products”). Product dossiers incorporate formulations, registrations, Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) listings, stability and 
validation data, and manufacturing and testing procedures.							    

Reconciliation of Intangible Assets:

Goodwill

Non-contractual 
customer 

relationships
Developed 

Products

 Products 
under 

Development Total
Opening balance as at 1 July 2016  -  - 17,330,143 1,486,466 18,816,609
Acquisitions  -  -  -  -  - 
Additions  -  - 309,368 425,726 735,094
Transfer of commercialised product  -  - 260,391 (260,391)  - 
Disposals  -  -  -  -  - 
Impairment  -  -  -  -  - 
Amortisation  -  - (667,006) (73,143) (740,149)
Closing balance as at 30 June 2017  -  - 17,232,895 1,578,658 18,811,553
Opening balance as at 1 July 2017  -  -  17,232,895  1,578,658  18,811,554 
Acquisitions  8,165,041  3,500,000  -  -  11,665,041 
Additions  -  -  745,990  168,283  914,273 
Reclassification  -  -  348,316  -  348,316 
Transfer of commercialised product  -  -  - -  - 
Disposals  -  -  -  -  - 
Impairment  -  -  -  -  - 
Transfer to assets held for sale (a)  -  -  (12,437,889)  -  (12,437,889)
Amortisation  -  (256,667)  (720,668)  -  (977,335)
Closing balance as at 30 June 2018  8,165,041  3,243,333  5,168,644  1,746,941  18,323,959 
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Estimated useful life of intangible assets
Intangible assets, comprising products under development and goodwill, have indefinite useful lives. Developed Products subject to 
a license with a specified term have a finite life of 10 to 20 years. Developed Products with indefinite lives comprise trademarks and 
product dossiers. Developed Products with finite useful lives are amortised on a straight line basis over their effective life. The current 
amortisation charges for intangible assets are included under administration and other expenses in the income statement. The directors 
consider intangibles to have an indefinite life when, based on an analysis of all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period 
over which the asset is expected to generate net cashflows for the group.

2018 
$

2017 
$

18: DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Deferred tax assets is comprised as follows:
Temporary differences - provisions  665,675  476,425 
Temporary differences - Property, plant & equipment  -  - 
Temporary differences - leases  539,790  349,497 
Temporary differences - other  189,327  598,697 
Tax losses  1,692,043  2,876,353 

 3,086,835  4,300,972 

19: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade accounts payable  10,939,010  8,450,849 
Sundry creditors & accruals  2,435,011  2,049,612 
GST payable  619,989  268,990 

 13,994,010  10,769,451 

(a) Fair value
Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

(b) Foreign exchange risk					   

Amounts payable in foreign currencies		
2018 

$
2017 

$
Current

Euro  258,959  49,822 
Great British Pounds  3,220  68,332 
US Dollars  164,579  491,540 
NZD  -  21,476 

 426,758  631,170 

Detailed information about the Group’s and the parent entity’s exposure to foreign currency risk in relation to trade and other payables is 
provided in Note 31.									       

2018 
$

2017 
$

(a) Assets Held for Sale
Developed products  12,437,889 -

As announced on 23 February 2018, the Board has appointed PWC to investigate the potential divestment of the Group’s branded 
portfolio. As at the date of this report, this process is ongoing and no formal agreements have been entered into.

F I N A N C I A L S
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2018 
$

2017 
$

20: INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES
Current
Secured borrowings
Bank loans  4,570,999  3,886,794 
Non-bank loans (see note 9)  1,000,000  - 
Lease liabilities  638,061  507,697 

 6,209,060  4,394,491 

Non-Current
Secured borrowings
Bank loans  6,540,000  2,400,000 
Non-bank loans (see note 9)  1,000,000  - 
Lease liabilities  1,173,164  657,292 

 8,713,164  3,057,292 

(a) Total current and non-current secured liabilities:
Bank loans  11,110,999  6,286,794 
Non-bank loans (see note 9)  2,000,000  - 
Lease liabilities  1,811,225  1,164,989 

 14,922,224  7,451,783 

(b) The carrying amount of the assets secured by a first registered mortgage:
Freehold land and building (Note 16)  15,085,328 14,863,540

(c) The bank loans are provided by Commonwealth Bank of Australia and are secured by a registered first mortgage over all freehold 
property of the parent entity and the subsidiaries which in total have a carrying amount as set out above.			 
The bank covenants require a ratio of net worth to total tangible assets of greater than 30%, debt service to EBITDA to exceed 2.5 times 
and the ratio of financial indebtedness to EBITDA of less than 2.75 time, where EBITDA excludes extraordinary items. The Group is in 
compliance with the bank convenants.				  

The bank loans provided by Commonwealth Bank are secured by cross guarantees between Probiotec Limited and its controlled entities.

(d) Finance lease liabilities:
Weighed average interest rate of 6.37%
Secured by leased plant / assets

Finance leases are entered into with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia. The lease terms are from 3 to 5 years. Finance leases may be 
extended at the expiry of their term by negotiation with the lease finance provider.		

(e) Interest rate risk exposure									       
The Group’s and the parent entity’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in Note 31.
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2018 
$

2017 
$

21: PROVISIONS
Current
Employee benefits (a)  2,155,407  919,218 
Contingent consideration (see note 9)  972,090  -   

 3,127,497  919,218 
Non-Current
Employee benefits (a)  150,091  668,265 
Contingent consideration (see note 9)  726,820  -   

 876,911  668,265 
Total provisions  4,004,408  1,587,483 

(a) Provision for employee benefits represents accrued annual leave along with an allowance for long service leave either earned by 
employees and not yet taken or partly earned. For partly earned long service leave, historical retention rates are used to determine 
likelihood of achieving fully vested long service leave. 					   
Reconciliation of provisions: Annual leave Long Service 

leave
Opening balance at 1 July 2017  919,218  668,265 
Acquired (see Note 9)  115,291  108,358 
Amounts used  (80,934)  (27,256)
Additional provisions  384,811  217,745 
Amounts unused and reversed  -  - 
Balance at 30 June 2018  1,338,386  967,112 

2018 
$

2017 
$

22: DEFERRED TAXES
Deferred taxes is comprised as follows:
Deferred tax assets (note 18)  3,086,835 4,300,972
Deferred tax liabilities - temporary differences (a) (7,844,208) (6,746,030)
Net deferred tax liabilities (4,757,373) (2,445,058)
Deferred tax expense debit / (credit) to income tax expense  1,281,642 1,035,725
Deferred tax expense charged to equity -  125,523 
(a) Deferred tax liabilities comprises:
Temporary differences - property, plant & equipment (1,214,024) (1,147,398)
Temporary differences - capitalised development costs (3,936,881) (3,876,579)
Temporary differences - other  (2,693,303) (1,722,053)

 (7,844,208) (6,746,030)

Reconciliation of net deferred tax liabilities: $
Opening as at 1 July 2016  (1,534,856)
Less : deferred tax expense charge  (1,035,725)
Less : deferred tax expense charged to equity  125,523 
Closing as at 30 June 2017  (2,445,058)
Less :  deferred tax expense  (1,281,642)
Less :  current tax expense  (585,355)
Less :  deferred tax expense charged to equity  (445,318)
Closing balance as at 30 June 2018  (4,757,373)

F I N A N C I A L S
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2018 
$

2017 
$

23: CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
62,529,356 (2017: 52,929,356) fully paid ordinary shares 38,596,329 33,686,519

Reconciliation of fully paid ordinary shares		
Balance at beginning of the financial year  33,686,519 33,686,519
Issue of shares  4,909,810  - 
Cancellation of shares held under Equity Compensation Plan  -  - 
Equity raising expenses  -  - 
Balance at end of financial year  38,596,329 33,686,519

2018 
No,

2017 
No,

Reconciliation of ordinary shares
Balance at the beginning of reporting period  52,929,356  52,929,356 
Shares issued during the year  9,600,000  -   
Balance at end of the report date  62,529,356  52,929,356 

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in proportion to the numbers of shares held.
At the shareholders meeting each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each shareholders has one vote on 
a show of hands.

(a) Capital management
The Group’s objective is to maintain a strong capital base to ensure the Group continues as a going concern as well as to maintain optimal 
returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Management also aims to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the 
cost of capital.
The Group’s debt and capital includes ordinary share capital and financial liabilities, supported by financial assets. The Group is not subject 
to externally imposed capital requirements other than those set out in Note 20.
The Group effectively manages the Group’s capital by monitoring its gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total 
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the 
balance sheet plus net debt.
The level of gearing in the Group is periodically reviewed by the Board to ensure that a responsible level of gearing is maintained. The 
directors consider that the Group is currently operating at a responsible gearing level. The gearing ratios at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 
2018 were as follows:

2018 
$

2017 
$

Total borrowings  14,922,224  7,451,783 
Less cash and cash equivalents  (1,816,089)  (321,624)
Net debt  13,106,135  7,130,159 
Total contributed equity  38,596,329  33,686,519 
Total capital employed  51,702,464  40,816,678 
Gearing ratio 25.3% 17.5%

There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management from 2017.
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2018 
$

2017 
$

24: RESERVES
Asset revaluation reserve  4,026,722  4,026,722 
Foreign currency translation reserve  (287,254)  (371,648)
Share based payments reserve  477,952  18,931 

Reconciliation of asset revaluation reserve
Balance at beginning of financial year  4,026,722  4,320,595 
Revaluation of assets  -    (293,873)
Balance at end of financial year  4,026,722  4,026,722 

Reconciliation of foreign currency translation reserve
Balance at beginning of financial year  (371,648)  (391,968)
Translation of net investment in foreign entities  84,394  20,320 
Balance at end of financial year  (287,254)  (371,648)

Reconciliation of share based payments reserve
Balance at beginning of financial year  18,931  18,933 
Issue / (cancellation) of options  459,021  (2)
Balance at end of financial year  477,952  18,931 

Asset revaluation reserves arise on the revaluation of non-current assets.							     
Where a revalued asset is sold that portion of the reserve which relates to that asset, and is effectively realised, is transferred to retained 
earnings.
Foreign currency translation reserves arise upon the translation of net investments in foreign entities at balance date.

F I N A N C I A L S
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2018 
$

2017 
$

25: COMMITMENTS
Lease commitments
Operating leases
Non-cancellable operating leases 							     
Payable - minimum lease payments:

Within one year  629,724  459,747 
Later than one year but not later than 5 years  487,879  289,612 

Commitments not recognised in the statement of financial position  1,117,603  749,359 

Finance leases commitments
Payable - minimum lease payments:

Within one year  679,116  556,477 
Later than one year but not later than 5 years  1,274,238  691,025 
Minimum lease payments  1,953,354  1,247,502 
Less: Future finance charges  (142,129)  (82,513)

 1,811,225  1,164,989 

Representing lease liabilities (Note 20):
Current  638,061  507,697 
Non-current  1,173,164  657,292 

 1,811,225  1,164,989 

The weighted average interest rate implicit in the leases is 6.37%.  The carrying value of assets purchased via leases is $2,516,996  
(2017: $2,491,092).
Leases are entered into with terms between 3 to 5 years. Operating leases are entered into for rental of sites, plant, equipment and 
vehicles. Finance leases are entered into for the purchase of various items of property, plant and equipment. Leased property is held at all 
of the group’s Australian based manufacturing sites. Leases may be renewed by negotiation. No contingent rents are payable under any 
lease contract entered into.
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26: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
(a) Incentive Option Scheme
The Group has in place an option incentive scheme to encourage employees to share in the ownership of the company in order to 
promote the long-term success of the company as a goal shared by the employees. This scheme is designed to attract, motivate and retain 
eligible employees. These options are governed by the Probiotec Limited Executive Option Plan (“the plan”). Under the plan, participants 
may be granted options which vest if the participant remains in the employment of the group for a period of greater than one year from 
the grant date. Participation in the plan is at the Board’s discretion and no individual has a contractual right to participate in the plan or to 
receive any guaranteed amount of options. For details of options issued to key management personnel refer to the remuneration report.

Employee incentive scheme options for the year ended 30 June 2018
The following incentive scheme options were issued to eligible employees, including key management personnel:

Grant Date Vesting date Expiry date
Exercise 
price ($)

Balance at 
start of year 

number

Options 
granted 

during the 
year number

Options 
exercised/

lapsed during 
the year 
number

Balance at 
end of year 

number

Vested and 
exercisable at 

end  
of year

06.10.2015 06.10.2016 05.10.2018 0.50  1,000,000  -  -  1,000,000  1,000,000 
01.07.2015 01.07.2016 30.06.2018 0.50  1,700,000  -  (1,700,000)  -  - 
01.07.2017 01.07.2018 30.06.2020 0.65  -  1,350,000  -  1,350,000  - 
23.11.2017 22.11.2018 22.11.2020 0.77  -  1,000,000  -  1,000,000  - 
19.12.2017 19.12.2017 18.12.2019 1.20  -  3,200,000  -  3,200,000  - 
23.01.2018 23.01.2018 22.01.2020 1.20  -  3,600,000  -  3,600,000  - 

Weighted average exercise price	  $0.50  $1.07  $0.50  $1.02  $0.50 

Employee incentive scheme options for the year ended 30 June 2017
The following incentive scheme options were issued to eligible employees, including key management personnel:

Grant Date Vesting date Expiry date
Exercise 
price ($)

Balance at 
start of year 

number

Options 
granted 

during the 
year number

Options 
exercised/

lapsed during 
the year 
number

Balance at 
end of year 

number

Vested and 
exercisable at 

end  
of year

06.10.2015 06.10.2016 05.10.2018 0.50  1,000,000 -  -  1,000,000  - 
01.07.2015 01.07.2016 30.06.2018 0.50  1,700,000 - -  1,700,000 -

Weighted average exercise price	 $0.50 $- $-  $0.50  $-

The weighted average contractual life remaining on employee incentive scheme options outstanding is 564 days as at balance date.

F I N A N C I A L S
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(b) Expenses arising from share-based payments
2018 

$
2017 

$
Options issued under executive option plan  459,021  - 

 459,021  - 

27: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no favourable than those available to other parties 
unless otherwise stated. No balances have been written off and no provision for doubtful debts has been made against any balances with 
related parties. 

Key Management personnel
There were no transactions between Key Management Personnel and Probiotec Limited or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 
30 June 2018 other than as disclosed above and in note 8.

Identification of Related Parties - Ultimate Parent Entity
The ultimate parent company is Probiotec Limited which is incorporated in Australia.

Associated companies 2018 
$

2017 
$

Payments were made to The Continental Group Pty Ltd, an entity associated with Mr Geoffrey Pearce 
(director). These payments were for the supply of raw materials and packaging items.  3,057,359  2,574,281 
Amounts payable to Continental Group Pty Ltd at year end  969,931  1,132,944 
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2018 
$

2017 
$

28: NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Financing facilities with banks
Secured bank overdraft facility:		
Facility balance  1,000,000  1,500,000 
Amount used  -    -   
Amount unused  1,000,000  1,500,000 
Secured term loan and working capital facilities with banks:				 
Facility balance  14,980,000  9,500,000 
Amount used  (11,110,999)  (6,286,794)
Amount unused  3,869,001  3,213,206 
Lease finance facilities:			 
Facility balance 3,500,000 3,500,000
Amount used  (1,811,225)  (1,164,989)
Amount unused  1,688,775  2,335,011 
Unsecured term loan with non-banks (see note 9):
Facility balance  2,000,000  -   
Amount used  (2,000,000)  -   
Amount unused  -    -   

(b) Reconciliation of Profit from Ordinary Activities After Related Income Tax to Net Cash Flows From 
Operating Activities:								      
Profit after related income tax		   3,576,575  2,264,162 
Change in fair value of derivative  26,160  -   
Depreciation and amortisation  3,008,549  2,787,979 
Loss / (profit) on sale of plant and equipment  -    1,040 
Impairment and reclassification costs  -    128,893 
Foreign currency translation  (84,394)  (20,320)
Employee share plan expenses  459,021  -   
(Decrease)/increase in net deferred taxes  2,312,315  1,036,147 
(Increase)/decrease in inventories  (1,668,529)  (635,620)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (3,691,239)  (2,127,135)
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets  129,988  (178,820)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  1,631,714  669,559 
Increase/(decrease) in tax liabilities  (184,494)  -   
Increase/(decrease) in provisions  707,212  162,128 
Net cash from operating activities  6,222,878  4,088,013 

Non-cash financing and investing activities:
During the year the Group acquired plant and equipment with an aggregate value of $1,061,059 (2017: $454,765) by means of finance leases. 

F I N A N C I A L S

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing activities
Non-cash changes

2017 Cash flows Acquisitions Foreign exchange movement Fair Value changes 2018
Long-term borrowings  2,400,000  4,140,000  1,000,000  -    -    7,540,000 
Short-term borrowings  3,886,794  (341,955)  1,000,000  -    -    4,544,839 
Lease liabilities  1,164,989  597,661  48,575  -    -    1,811,225 
Other financial liability  -    -    -    -    26,160  26,160 

 7,451,783  4,395,706  2,048,575  -    26,160  13,922,224 
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2018 
$

2017 
$

29: EARNINGS PER SHARE
Profit  3,576,575  2,264,162 
Earnings used in the calculation of basic EPS  3,576,575  2,264,162 
Earnings used in the calculation of dilutive EPS  3,576,575  2,264,162 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in calculation of basic EPS  62,529,356 52,929,356
Weighted average number of options outstanding					      1,000,000  -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in calculation of dilutive EPS 63,529,356 52,929,356 
Earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share (cents) 5.7 4.3
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 5.6 4.3
Earnings per share from discontinued operations:			
Basic earnings per share (cents) (1.1) (1.0)
Diluted earnings per share (cents) (1.1) (1.0)

30: SUBSIDIARY INFORMATION	
Information about principal subsidiaries
The subsidiaries listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares which are held directly by the Group. The proportion 
of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. Each subsidiary’s principal place of business is also its country of 
incorporation.

Ownership Interest  
Held by the Group

Name of subsidiary Principal Place of Business 2018 
%

2017 
%

Probiotec Pharmaceuticals Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Biotech Pharmaceuticals Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Probiotec (QLD) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Probiotec (NSW) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Australian Dairy Proteins Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Milton Pharmaceuticals Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Probiotec Nutritionals Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Willie Labs Generics Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
South Pack Laboratories (Aust) Pty Ltd		  Australia 100 0
Probiotec (UK) Limited United Kingdom 100 100
Probiotec (Ireland) Limited Ireland 100 100

Subsidiary financial statements used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements have also been prepared as at the same 
reporting date as the Group’s financial statements.
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31: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS								     
Financial Risk Management						    
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of receivables, payables, bank loans and overdrafts, finance leases, loans from related 
parties, cash and short-term deposits. 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The Board has 
established the Audit and Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for approving and reviewing the Group’s financial risk 
management strategy and policy.  The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks in accordance with the Group’s risk management 
policy approved by the Board of Directors to enable the risks to be balanced against appropriate rewards for the taking and managing of the 
risks.
Risk management policies are established to identify, assess and control the risks which affects its business and are reviewed regularly to 
reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities.
The Audit and Risk Committee overseas how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures 
including the review of the adequacy of the risk management framework with respect to the risks faced by the Group.

Financial Risks								      
The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are foreign currency risk,  interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit 
risk.
(a) Market risk						    
(i) Foreign exchange risk						    
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures when it undertakes sale and purchase of goods and 
services in currencies other than the Group’s measurement currency, primarily with respect to the  British Pound, US dollar and the Euro. 
The Group seeks to mitigate the effect of its foreign currency exposure by maintaining foreign currency bank accounts that match the cash 
flows generated from and used by the underlying foreign currency transactions. 
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk or the manner in which the Group manages and measures the 
risk from previous period.
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date was as follows:						    
                                                                                              Consolidated Group				  
2018	 GBP	 NZD	 USD	 EUR 
	 $	 $	 $	 $
Financial Assets	 					   
Trade and other receivables	    110,343  	    11,382   	    -   	     670,619  
Financial Liabilities	 			 
Trade and other payables	    3,220    	  - 	     164,579    	    258,959   
Net exposure	    107,123  	  11,382    	  (164,579)	     411,660 
	 					   
2017	 GBP	 NZD	 USD	 EUR 
	 $	 $	 $	 $
Financial Assets	 					   
Trade and other receivables	   653,779 	   92,780  	    -   	    14,982  
Financial Liabilities	 			 
Trade and other payables	   68,332   	  21,476 	    491,540   	    49,822  
Net exposure	   585,447 	    71,304   	  (491,540)	    (34,840)
						    

F I N A N C I A L S
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Profit 
$

Equity 
$

2017
GBP  (9,738)  -   
NZD  (1,485)  -   
US dollars  14,962  -   
EUR  (37,424)  -   
2017
GBP (53,222)  -   
NZD (9,301)  -   
US dollars 44,685  -   
EUR 3,167  -   

A 10% weakening of Australian dollar against GBP, 15% weakening of Australian dollar against NZD, 10% weakening of Australian dollar 
against US dollar and a 10% weakening of Australian dollar against EUR  at 30 June would have the equal but opposite effect on GBP, US 
dollar and NZD to the amount shown above on the basis that other variables remain constant. 

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations. The level of debt is disclosed in 
note 20. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the 
Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis						    
Based on the financial instruments held as at 30 June 2018, a 10% strengthening of Australian dollar against GBP, 15% strengthening of 
Australian dollar against the New Zealand dollar (NZD), 10% strengthening of Australian dollar against US dollar and a 10% strengthening 
of Australian Dollar against EUR at 30 June would have increased / (decreased) profit or loss and equity by the amounts shown below. This 
analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2017.

The Group constantly analyses its interest rate exposure. The Group’s current approach is to maintain approximately 25% - 50% of its 
borrowings at fixed rate using floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps and/or fixed rate leasing to achieve this (where applicable). Occasionally, 
the Group raises long-term borrowings at floating rates and swaps them into fixed rates that are lower than those available if the Group 
borrowed at fixed rates directly. If interest rate swaps are used, the Group agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals 
(mainly quarterly), the difference between fixed contract rates and floating-rate interest amounts calculated by reference to the agreed 
notional principal amounts. These swaps are designated to hedge the underlying debt obligations.  During 2017 and 2018, the Group’s 
borrowings at variable rates were denominated in Australian Dollars.
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As at the reporting date, the Group had the following financial assets and liabilities exposed to variable interest rate risk:
Floating interest rate maturing

2018

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 
%

1 year  
or less 

$

Over 1 to  
5 years 

$

More than  
5 years 

$
Total 

$
Financial assets:

Cash -  1,816,089  -  -  1,816,089 
Total financial assets  1,816,089  -  -  1,816,089 

Financial Liabilities:
Loans and overdraft 4.50  4,570,999  6,540,000  -  11,110,999 
Total financial liabilities  4,570,999  6,540,000  -  11,110,999 

Net exposure  (2,754,910)  (6,540,000)  -  (9,294,910)

Floating interest rate maturing

2017

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 
%

1 year  
or less 

$

Over 1 to  
5 years 

$

More than  
5 years 

$
Total 

$
Financial assets:

Cash - 321,624  -  - 321,624
Total financial assets 321,624  -  - 321,624

Financial Liabilities:
Loans and overdraft 4.57 3,886,794 2,400,000  - 6,286,794
Total financial liabilities 3,886,794 2,400,000  - 6,286,794

Net exposure (3,565,170) (2,400,000)  - (5,965,170)

Sensitivity analysis
Based on the financial assets and liabilities held as at 30 June 2018, an increase in interest rates would have the following financial impact 
on the Group. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2017.

Profit
2018 $
1%  (92,949)
2%  (185,898)

2017
1% (59,652)
2% (119,303)

A reduction in interest rates at 30 June would have the equal but opposite effect to the amount shown above on the basis that other 
variables remain constant. 

F I N A N C I A L S
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(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may encounter difficulties rasing funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments 
such as borrowing repayments.
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of available funding through 
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities such as bank overdrafts, bank loans and finance leases.
The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and to have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due.
In addition, the Group had access to undrawn credit facilities available for use at the reporting date which would further reduce the 
liquidity risk. For further details see Note 28(a).

Maturities of financial liabilities
Consolidated Group

2018

Carrying 
amount 

$

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

$

Less than  
6 months 

$

6 - 12
months 

$

1 - 5
years 

$
Non-derivatives financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  11,558,999  11,558,999  11,558,999  -  - 
Fixed borrowings (including finance leases)  1,811,225  1,953,354  339,558  339,558  1,274,238 
Variable borrowings  11,110,999  11,110,999  720,000  720,000  9,670,999 

 24,481,223  24,623,352  12,618,557  1,059,558  10,945,237 

2017
Non-derivatives financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  8,719,839  8,719,839  8,719,839  -  -   
Fixed borrowings (including finance leases)  1,164,989  1,247,502  278,239  278,239  691,025 
Variable borrowings  6,286,794  6,286,794  300,000  300,000  5,686,794 

 16,171,622  16,254,135  9,298,078  578,239  6,377,819 

(c) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents as well as credit exposures to 
customers, including outstanding receivables from subsidiaries and financial guarantees given to entities within the Group. The Group’s 
exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these 
instruments. Exposure at reporting date is addressed in Note 13.
The Group’s policy is to trade with recognised and credit-worthy third parties and as such no collateral is required. The Group manages 
its credit risk by assessing the credit quality and financial position of its customers including past experience and other factors. In addition, 
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis minimising the exposure to bad debts. 

(d) Price risk
The Group is not exposed to any commodity and equity securities price risk. Most of the raw materials are sourced through importing 
agents and major suppliers in the local milk powder industry and the Group does not actively trade in equity investments.

(e) Fair values
The fair values of loans and amounts due are determined by discounting the cash flows, at market interest rates of similar borrowings, to 
their present value. For forward exchange contracts the fair value is the recognised unrealised gain or loss at reporting date determined 
from the current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar maturities.
For other assets and other liabilities the fair value approximates their carrying value. No financial assets and financial liabilities are readily 
traded on organised markets in standardised form other than listed investments, forward exchange contracts and interest rates swaps. 
Financial assets where the carrying amount exceeds fair values have not been written down as the economic entity intends to hold these 
assets to maturity.
There has been no change to the Group’s method of calculating fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities since last year.
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         2018          2017
Carrying 
Amount 

$

Net Fair 
Value 

$

Carrying 
Amount 

$

Net Fair 
Value 

$

Financial Assets
Trade & other current receivables  16,472,056  16,472,056  8,695,008  8,695,008 
Cash  1,816,089  1,816,089  505,622  505,622 

 18,288,145  18,288,145  9,200,630  9,200,630 

Financial Liabilities
Trade & others payables  11,558,999  11,558,999  8,719,839  8,719,839 
Short term borrowings  13,110,999  13,110,999  6,286,794  6,286,794 
Lease liability  1,811,225  1,811,225  1,164,989  1,164,989 

 26,481,223  26,481,223  16,171,622  16,171,622 

Fair values are materially in line with carrying values for all financial assets and liabilities.

32: PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION
The following details information related to the parent entity, Probiotec Limited, at 30 June 2018.
The information presented here has been prepared using consistent financial statements.

2018 
$

2017 
$

Current assets  42,218,892  36,919,454 
Non-current assets  30,967,025  17,008,509 
Total Assets  73,185,917  53,927,963 
Current Liabilities  16,709,604  13,649,063 
Non-current liabilities  14,326,061  5,926,743 
Total Liabilities  31,035,665  19,575,806 
Contributed equity  38,596,329  33,686,519 
Retained earnings  (277,927)  (2,924,561)
Other reserve  3,831,850  3,590,199 
Total equity  42,150,252  34,352,157 
Profit / (loss) for the year  2,060,113  1,033,123 
Other Comprehensive income for the year  -  (442,873)
Total comprehensive income for the year  2,060,113  590,250 

The parent company has not guaranteed any loans held by its subsidiaries other than as part of the cross guarantees set out in Note 20(c).
The parent entity is subject to contractual obligations in regards to the group’s interest bearing liabilities as detailed in Note 19. All finance 
leases held by the group (see Note 20) are held by the parent entity.

F I N A N C I A L S
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33: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(a) The following tables provide the fair values of the Group’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised on a recurring basis after initial 
recognition and their categorisation within the fair value hierarchy:

30 June 2018

Note
Level 1 

$
Level 2 

$
Level 3 

$
Total 

$
Recurring fair value measurements		
Non-financial assets		
Freehold land 16  -  4,030,000  -  4,030,000 
Freehold buildings 16  -  -  11,055,328  11,055,328 
Total non-financial assets recognised at fair value on a 
recurring basis  -  4,030,000  11,055,328  15,085,328 
Financial Liability
Contingent cash consideration  -  -  1,698,910  1,698,910 
Total financial liabilities recognised at fair value  -  -  1,698,910  1,698,910 

Non-recurring fair value measurements
Total non-financial assets recognised at fair value on a  
non-recurring basis  -  - - -
Total non-financial assets recognised at fair value  -  4,030,000  11,055,328  15,085,328 

Recurring fair value measurements
Financial liabilities		
Interest rate swap		   -  26,160  -  26,160 
Total financial liabilities recognised at fair value on a recurring basis  -  26,160  -  26,160 

30 June 2017

Note
Level 1 

$
Level 2 

$
Level 3 

$
Total 

$
Recurring fair value measurements		
Non-financial assets		
Freehold land 16  -  4,030,000  -  4,030,000 
Freehold buildings 16  -  -  10,833,540  10,833,540 
Total non-financial assets recognised at fair value on a 
recurring basis  -  4,030,000  10,833,540  14,863,540 

Non-recurring fair value measurements				  
Total non-financial assets recognised at fair value on a  
non-recurring basis  -  - - -
Total non-financial assets recognised at fair value  -  4,030,000  10,833,540  14,863,540 

(b) Valuation techniques and inputs used to measure Level 2 fair values

Description

Fair Value 
at 30 June 

2018

 Valuation technique(s)  Inputs used 

Non-financial assets

Freehold land *  4,030,000 
 Market approach using recent observable  

market data for similar properties;
 Price per square metre 

($100 - $340 psm);
 4,030,000 

Financial liabilities  

Interest rate swap  26,160 
 Income approach using discounted cash flow  

methodology and swap models
 Interest rate

 26,160 
* The fair value of freehold land and buildings is determined at least every three years based on valuations by an independent valuer. At the end of each intervening period, the directors 
review the independent valuation and, when appropriate, update the fair value measurement to reflect current market conditions using a range of valuation techniques, including recent 
observable market data.
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35: SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(a) Description of segments									       
Management has determined the operating segments based on reports reviewed by the executive management committee for making 
strategic decision. The executive management committee comprises the chief executive officer, chief financial officer and divisional 
managers. The committee monitors the business based on product and geographic factors and have identified 3 reportable segments. 

Branded Pharmaceuticals
The branded pharmaceuticals segment involves the sale of branded pharmaceutical products (both owned and licensed brands) 
predominantly throughout Australia and also to selected South East Asian countries. 

Contract manufacture									       
The contract manufacturing segment involves  the contract manufacturing of pharmaceutical, food and animal nutrition products on 
behalf of domestic and international pharmaceutical and food companies. 

Obesity and weight management
The obesity and weight management segment is involved in the manufacture and sale of a range of products across a number of channels 
including FMCG, pharmacy, health food stores and online. The majority of sales of this segment are made domestically with a small 
portion being sold to New Zealand and several other countries. This segment includes the Celebrity Slim brand along with the Impromy 
program.

Business Segments Segment name
Segment 1 Branded Pharmaceuticals 
Segment 2 Contract manufacturing
Segment 3 Obesity and health

(d) Reconciliation of recurring level 3 fair value measurements
Specialised Building Contingent Consideration

Balance at the beginning of the year  10,833,540  – 
Additions  671,280  1,698,910 
Transfers  –  – 
Depreciation  (449,492)  – 
Revaluation  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year  11,055,328  1,698,910 

F I N A N C I A L S

The depreciated replacement cost method had been applied in the valuation of the Freehold Building as the independent valuer had 
determined that the buildings are specialised in nature. Specialised buildings are valued using the depreciated replacement cost method, 
adjusting for the associated depreciations. As depreciation adjustments are unobservable in nature, specialised buildings are classified as Level 
3 fair value measurements.

(c)  Valuation techniques and unobservable inputs used to measure Level 3 fair values

Description

Fair Value 
at 30 June 

2018

 Valuation technique(s) Significant Inputs Used

Non-financial assets
Useful life (20-22 years)

Cost per square metre ($600 - $700 psm)Freehold Buildings  11,055,328 Depreciated Replacement Cost

Non financial liabilities
Discounted cash flows: The valuation model 

considers the present value of expected 
payment, discounted using a risk-adjusted 
discount rate. The expected payment is 

determined based on a probability factor on 
the earn out being achieved.

- Forecast annual  revenue
- Forecast EBITDA;

- Risk adjusted discount rate (14.5%)Contingent liabilities  1,698,910 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

34: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There has not been any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the financial year that has significantly affected or may 
significantly affect, the consolidated entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity’s state of affairs in 
financial years after the financial year other than the acquisition of the land and buildings at 85 Cherry Lane, Laverton North for $3.6 
million on 2 July 2018.
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Segment 1 
$’000

Segment 2 
$’000

Segment 3 
$’000

Consolidated 
$’000

Year ended 30 June 2018
Revenue from external customers  7,995  52,417  15,313  75,725 
Total segmental revenue  7,995  52,417  15,313  75,725 

Segmental profit / (loss) from continuing operations		   1,465  6,172  2,310  9,947 
Total segmental profit / (loss)  1,465  6,172  2,310  9,947 

Interest  (672)
Unallocated corporate income / (expense)  (3,832)
Total unallocated income / (expense)		   (4,504)

Profit from continuing activities before income tax  5,746 
Profit from discontinued operations before income tax  (303)

 5,443 

Segment 1 
$’000

Segment 2 
$’000

Segment 3 
$’000

Consolidated 
$’000

Year ended 30 June 2017
Revenue from external customers  7,372  40,629  12,648  60,649 
Total segmental revenue  7,372  40,629  12,648  60,649 

Segmental profit  1,198  4,813  1,376  7,387 
Total segmental profit  1,198  4,813  1,376  7,387 

Interest  (442)
Unallocated corporate expenses  (2,957)
Total unallocated income / (expense)  (3,399)

Loss from continuing activities before income tax  3,988 
Loss from discontinued operations before income tax  (688)

 3,300 
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2018 
$

2017 
$

(b) Reconciliation of segmental revenue to total revenue
Segmental revenue  75,724,762  60,649,406 
Interest received  -  - 
Total revenue  75,724,762  60,649,406 

(c) Segment revenue
Sales between segments (if they occur) are carried out at arm’s length and are eliminated on consolidation. The revenue from external 
parties reported to the board is measured in a manner consistent with that in the statement of comprehensive income.
Revenues from external customers are derived from the sale of products on both a wholesale and business-to-business basis from each of 
the business segments outlined earlier in this note. A breakdown of revenue is provided in the tables above.

(d) Segment profit
The board assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of adjusted EBIT. This measurement basis 
excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from the operating segments such as restructuring costs, legal expenses and goodwill 
impairments when the impairment is the result of an isolated, non-recurring event. This measurement basis also excludes the effects of 
any non-recurring items of revenue or income. Interest income and expenditure are not allocated to segments, as this type of activity is 
driven by the central treasury function, which manages the cash position of the group.

(e) Entity wide information
The gross revenue in each region where significant export revenue is achieved for the year was:

Australia 
$

New  
Zealand 

$
Other 

$
Gross Revenue for year ended 30 June 2018  75,556,528  168,234 -
Gross Revenue for year ended 30 June 2017  60,270,908  310,348  68,150

Revenue of approximately $11,822,999 (2017: $10,482,542) were derived from a major external customer included in the contract 
manufacturing segment.

(f) Segment assets
No disclosure of segment assets has been made as this information is not provided to the chief decision maker on a regular basis.

36: COMPANY DETAILS		
The registered office of the company is:				  
Probiotec Limited, 83 Cherry Lane, Laverton North VIC 3026				  

The principal place of business is:				  
83 Cherry Lane, Laverton VIC				  

The ultimate parent company is Probiotec Limited, a company incorporated in Australia.	

F I N A N C I A L S
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Directors’ Declaration

PROBIOTEC LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES  
ACN 075 170 151

DECLARATION BY DIRECTORS 
The directors of the company declare that:
1.	 The financial statements, comprising the statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position, statement of cash 

flows, statement of changes in equity and accompanying notes, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and: 

(a)	 comply with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)	 give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of the performance for the year ended on that date of 
the consolidated entity.

2.	 The company has included in the notes to the financial statements an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

3.	 In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable. 

4.	 The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 295A. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on behalf of the directors by:

Wesley Stringer 
Director 
  
Dated at Laverton this 23rd day of August 2018
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Other information required by ASX Listing Rules

The information in this section is current as at 27 August 2018.

Substantial Holders in the entity, as disclosed in substantial holding notices given to the entity
Charles Wayne Stringer 9,998,405 fully paid ordinary shares
Geoffrey Ronald Pearce 3,063,628 fully paid ordinary shares
CVC Limited 4,772,515 fully paid ordinary shares
Bath Road Pty Ltd 3,950,000 fully paid ordinary shares

Holders of each class of equity securities

Security Classes Holders Total Units
Fully Paid Ordinary 1,211 62,729,356

Voting rights attached to each class of equity securities
Each fully paid ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member present at a meeting or by proxy has 
one vote on a show of hands.

Distribution schedule of number of holders of each class of equity securities

Security Classes Holdings Ranges Holders Total Units %
Fully Paid Ordinary 1-1,000 253 134,961 0.215

1,001-5,000 440 1,102,367 1.757
5,001-10,000 175 1,378,470 2.197

10,001-100,000 266 8,748,999 13.947
 100,001-99,999,999,999 77 51,364,559 81.883
 Totals 1,211 62,729,356 100.000

Holders with less than a marketable parcel of the main class of securities
At the date of this report, a marketable parcel of fully paid ordinary shares was 287 or more shares.

Security Classes Holdings Ranges Holders Total Units %
Fully Paid Ordinary 0 – 287 71 5,474 0.009

287 – 99,999,999,999 1,140 62,723,882 99.991
 Totals 1,211 62,729,356 100.000

Company secretaries
The secretary of Probiotec Limited is:
Mr. Jared Stringer
Full details and qualifications for the secretary can be found in the Directors’ Report.



78.

Other information required by ASX Listing Rules (continued)

F I N A N C I A L S

Registered Office and principal administrative office
The registered office and principal administrative office for Probiotec Limited is:
83 Cherry Lane 
Laverton North 
Victoria 3026 
Ph: (03) 9278 7555

Register of securities, register of depositary receipts and other facilities for registration or transfer
All registers of securities, registers of depositary receipts and other facilities for registration or transfer are kept at:
Boardroom Limited 
Level 7, 207 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Ph: (02) 9290 9600 
Fax: (02) 9279 0664

20 largest holders of each class of quoted equity securities
At the date of this report, there is only one class of quoted equity securities, being fully paid ordinary shares. The 20 largest holders of this 
class at the date of this report were:

Holder Name Holding %
INSTON PTY LTD (STRINGER SUPER FUND A/C) 4,152,359 6.619%
BATH ROAD PTY LTD (THE BATH ROAD A/C) 3,950,000 6.297%
CVC LIMITED 3,947,268 6.293%
INSTON PTY LTD (STRINGER FAMILY A/C) 3,111,121 4.960%
MR CHARLES WAYNE STRINGER 2,438,574 3.887%
BNP PARIBAS NOMS (NZ) LTD (DRP) 2,301,421 3.669%
BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED (RSALTE - D64848 A/C) 2,097,131 3.343%
GANTER CORPORATION PTY LTD (GANTER FAMILY A/C) 1,993,015 3.177%
GR PEARCE INVESTMENTS PTY LTD (PEARCE INVESTMENTS A/C) 1,900,000 3.029%
J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 1,899,182 3.028%
CGP PTY LTD 1,600,000 2.551%
STINOC PTY LIMITED 1,438,738 2.294%
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 1,222,559 1.949%
CGP PTY LTD 1,173,292 1.870%
S & B SUPER FD PTY LTD (JOHNSTON FAMILY SUPER/F A/C) 1,018,255 1.623%
MR JARED STRINGER 980,000 1.562%
TRIFERN PTY LTD (SUPER FUND ACCOUNT) 830,190 1.323%
MT SMITH GROUP PTY LTD (MT SMITH FAMILY A/C) 779,680 1.243%
TAYLOR CO PTY LTD (PETER TAYLOR SUPER FUND A/C) 636,883 1.015%
SORF INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 627,900 1.001%

38,097,568 60.733%
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Other stock Exchanges on which entity’s securities are quoted
Securities in Probiotec Limited are not quoted on any other stock exchange other than the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX).

Restricted and Escrowed Securities
At the date of this report, there were no securities subject to escrow. 

Unquoted Equity Securities

On market buy-back
As at the date of this report, there is no current on market buy-back.

Security Classes Holders Total Units
Unquoted options – issued under Probiotec Executive Option Plan 7 9,950,000
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